INTERVIEW TOPICS GUIDE

A GUIDE TO INTERVIEWS CONDUCTED BY THE

GREENWICH LIBRARY ORAL HISTORY PROJECT

UPDATED: JANUARY 21, 2020

INTERVIEW TOPICS

A guide to interviews conducted by the

GREENWICH LIBRARY ORAL HISTORY PROJECT

This is a guide to the more than nine hundred and fifty interviews conducted since its founding in 1973 by the Greenwich Library Oral History Project (OHP). Sponsored by the Friends of Greenwich Library, the Project is staffed by volunteers, and new members are always welcome.

The recollections of the narrators interviewed span the period from the 1890s to the present and provide an extraordinary portrait of life in Greenwich, Connecticut. The transcripts of the interviews and a detailed index to the collection are located in the local history reference area of the Greenwich Library. The published books circulate at the Greenwich Library, its Cos Cob and Byram Shubert branches, and the Perrot Memorial Library in Old Greenwich, Connecticut. The interview CDs, transcripts, and oral history books may also be purchased at the Oral History office.

Nearly all of these interviews have been transcribed, and more than two hundred of them have been published as or excerpted in 138 books published by the OHP. This guide is intended as a reference for the student, scholar, and casual reader. Researchers are reminded that the Greenwich Library, which has reserved all rights relating to the oral interviews, transcripts, and publications, has copyrighted them. Any question regarding permission to use any of these materials must be directed to the local history reference librarian of the Greenwich Library. Attribution to the Greenwich Library Oral History Project must be given for any use of the material.

CONTENTS

Areas of Town & Neighborhoods	5
Arts	
Associations & Nonprofit Organizations	
BANKING & FINANCE; DEPRESSIONS & RECESSIONS	
BOATS & SAILING	
CONSERVATION, RIVERS, & NATURAL RESOURCES	
CORPORATIONS	
ELDERLY	
ESTATES	
ETHNIC GROUPS	41
FARMING & GARDENING	
Fire Departments	47
GOVERNMENT & POLITICS	
HEALTH & MEDICINE	55
HISTORY	
HOLIDAYS	60
HOTELS & RESTAURANTS	61
ISLANDS	61
JOURNALISM	62
LIBRARIES & MUSEUMS	63
Merchants & Local Businesses	65
PARKS	67
PEOPLE & FAMILIES	

.74
.75
.75
.77
.79
.82
.85
.86
.88
.90
.91
.91
.93
.96
•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Key:

- 1. Indicates that the interview is published, or excerpted in a book published by the OHP.
- 2. **#** in parenthesis indicates the interview number when the narrator has given more than one interview.
- 3. **[audio only]** indicates that the interview is not transcribed.

AREAS OF TOWN & NEIGHBORHOODS

Back Country (general)

See also Northwest Greenwich; Round Hill; ESTATES Baker, Dorothy (#252; Rock Ridge) Bridge, William (#1020; North Street area) Cummings, Lester (#448; Field Club) Davies, Betty (#2917; Early Years at Christ Church) Devaul, Willard (#300; development) ✓ Filley, Mary (#2257) ✓ Houston, Harrison (#574; Stanwich Road) ✓ Howland, John (#685; hunting) Jacob, Leonard (#2202; proposed railroads) Jones, Ethel (#945; African-American resident) June, Floyd T. (#2503; Stanwich, June, and Guinea Roads) Malkin, Peter (#2918 Conservation and Preservation, Merritt Parkway) Mecca, Nancy (#2923; My Families in Greenwich) Schilt, Vernon (#2052-2053; artesian wells) Strain. William N.H. (#2560; Round Hill Road) Van Voorhies, Eunice L. (#2321; Clapboard Ridge) Wahl, Theodore F. (#586-587; riding; hunting) ✓ Walsh, Helen Wilshire (#2237; lifestyle) ✓

Banksville

Finch, William E., Jr. (#673; published with Watson) ✓ Hoyt, Barbara (#747; Community Center) Nolan, Barbara (#2915; Community Centers, Inc.) Watson, Doris Finch (#673; published with Finch) ✓ Weed, Candee (#2780; grandfather's farm) Zygmont, Bruno (#923; fire department)

Belle Haven/Field Point

See also **Byram Shore** Barrett, John (#2157; published with Lynch) ✓ Carrott, John (#914) Hone, Michael (#2952) Lally, Thomas (#267) Lester, Lydia (#357) Lynch, Helen Barrett (#2170; published with Barrett) ✓ Scudder, Alice (#2210; [audio only]) Ulloa, Adriel Augusto (#2894)

<u>Byram</u>

Archibald, Athalie (#2235; Byram Shubert Library) Bella, Andrew (#215, #216) ✓ Bocchino, Thomas (#227) Christensen, R. Marshall (#2219; Byram Shubert Library) Conboy, Josephine B. (#2851; Byram Neighborhood Association) Conway, Howard E. (#792, #795, #2793) Cunningham, Evan (#2500) Darula, Adelaide (#2162; Sokol Club) ✓ Dougherty, Hugh (#646) ✓ Drabeck, Olga Frano (#563) Frederick, Jeanne M. (#2740) Gotch, John (#2369) Hansen, Harold (#1020) Knudsen, Peter (#2517) Kristoff, Alberta (#2428; Shell Island) Krois, Max (#633) Leinbach, Mary Eimer (#2485; Shell Island) Lyon, Edward C. (#2283; waterfront) Macri, Antoinette Peters (#2782; Byram and Byram Beach) Milliken, Phoebe (#2363; Byram River Gorge Preserve) Pietrzak, Jean (#2789; World War II Home Front) Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront) Schmidt, Fredrick (#218) Slater, Imogene W. (#2288-2289) Spezzano, Elizabeth (#2636) Triggs, John (#568; quarries) ✓ Ward, Harold T. (#474; Port Chester Aluminum Foundry) West, Chester W. (#2387-2390; East Port Chester Fire Department) ✓

Byram Shore

Barrett, John (#2157; published with Lynch) ✓ Conway, Howard E. (#793) Dougherty, Hugh (#646) ✓ Frederick, Jeanne M. (#832) Friend, Elise, M.D. (#683) Haughwout, J. A. B. (#391, Whitney Castle; #2510) Hirschhorn, Fred (#774; Whitney Castle) Kristoff, Alberta (#2428, Shell Island; published with Leinbach) ✓ Leinbach, Mary Eimer (#2485, Shell Island; published with Kristoff) ✓ Lyon, Edward (#2283) Napper, Alver W., Sr. (#637, Lee Haven Beach Club) ✓ O'Donnell, Michael (#242, #243, #2334, Quarry Farm) Ornstein, Barbara H. (#2330, # 2597, Quarry Farm) Reynolds, Nancy S. (#2329; Quarry Farm)

Central Greenwich

Anderson, Edward (#2458) Bambrick, William (#2903 The Astronomical Society of Greenwich) Barney, John ((#205; Steamboat Road; published with Jenkins) ✓ Barrows, Paul (#2114; north central) Bassett, Horace H., DDS (#2080; Bruce Park; Benedict estate) ✓ Berking, Rhoda (#822; East Putnam Avenue) Bird, Rachel (#2553; Edgewood) Bobker, Kate (#2779; Putnam Green) Boles, Ambrose (#2350; Sherwood Place) Borchetta, Charles (#2487; Steamboat Road; Putnam Avenue) 🗸 Brander, Jean K. (#2671) Bridge, Helen (#725) Casey, Walter S. (#2709) Constante, Maria Emperatriz "Empy" (#2886) Crichton, William (#2265) Cullen, John W. (#952, #953; fire departments) Curley, Grace S. (#782) Davies, Betty (#2917; Early Years at Christ Church) Dernier, Eleanor B. (#295) Emery, Marietta (#492 [audio only]; Saint Mary Church, Steamboat Road) Eskowetz, Jennie Weiss (#322) ✓ Ferguson, Edna S. W. (#656)

Figueroa, Carolina (#2921; Moving to Greenwich from Colombia) Finch, William E., Jr. (#340 to #349 ✓) Fogg, Regina (#2949; The Fourth Ward) Fox, Robert and Thomas (#2520; Grigg Street) Francefort, Douglas (#2905) Fujitani, Robert (#2880) Gravis, Helen Meany (#2263; #2299) ✓ Guerrieri, Michael J. (#2442) Hall, Lillian (#688 [audio only]) Hart-Rogers, Margaret (#2783; Zaccheus Mead Lane) Heffron, Mary (#2234; north central) Hoggson, Wallace (#2180; north central) Howland, Gertrude (#2377; Greenwich Avenue) ✓ Irwin, Thomas (#566; East Putnam Avenue) Jenkins, Rhoda Barney (#207; Steamboat Road; published with Barney) ✓ Klumpp, Otto (#802) Knapp, J. Edward (#2380) Lally, Thomas (#267) Lee, Robert A. (#456 and #459) Levine, Jennie Marks (#451) Lockwood, Marion ((#403; Prospect Street) Margenot, Mary Manero (#2320; Steamboat Road) ✓ Marks, Judge Leah Ruth (#2765) Martin, Louis (#757 [audio only]; Greenwich Avenue businesses) McArdle, James B., Jr. (#2861) McArdle, James B., Sr. (#884) McCarty, Cornelius, Sr. (#596) McGeorge, William B. (#1013) ✓ Mecca, Nancy (#2923; My Families in Greenwich) Milliken, Jane E. (#2884) Minchin, Henry (#1000; Pickwick Arms) ✓ Moonie, Liana (#2907) Murphy, John R. (#2512; Fourth Ward) Neville, John (#712) Nicholson, Frank (#611; Lewis Street) ✓ Nielsen, Joyce Susanne (#2678) Nielsen, Kristian Fredlund (#2679) Nins, Rev. Thomas (#2940) Nolan, Barbara (#2915; Community Centers, Inc.) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate)

Owen, Gladys H. R. (#2745) Palermo, Nicholas (#571; Steamboat Road) Parker, Challen R. (#807 [audio only]) Peabody, David F. (#2521) Perry, Robert (#631, #2322) Pincus, Irving (#2637; Marks Brothers) Pinkert, Harriet Levine (#2683 [audio only]) Platt, Audrey Achelis (#2613 [audio only]) Quinlan, Helen (#975; Horseneck Tavern) ✓ Quinn, Hugh (#2744; Quinn's Market) Quinn, Mary Ellen Johann (#2825; family houses in) Rassu, Ralph (#2634) Resnick, Dr. David (#2684; fourth ward) Robinson, Wesley (#2685) Rutherford, Nathalie (#2298; Lewis Street) Rutherford, William A. (#843, #844; Lewis Street) ✓ Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493, #2494; Lewis Street) Schachter, Edward (#2634; Richard's; Greenwich Avenue) Sechi, Patricia Degelmann (#2893) Silver, Kyle (#2899; Arch Street Teen Center) Silver, Wendy (#2944; Cos Cob Library) Smith, Edna (#2398; William Street) Spann, Alexandra Clarke (#526 to #528; Mason Street) ✓ Sprague, William & Frances (#2015, #2016; Steamboat Road) Steadwell, Gertrude Johnson (#2451, #2452) ✓ Steegmuller, Francis (#2211, #2212) ✓ Stuttig, Charles F., Jr. (#2501, #2502) Tripodi, Josephine (#2934; Family store on Greenwich Avenue) Tunick, Barbara (#2788; childhood) Twine, George E. (#1065; Fourth Ward) ✓ Valentine, Emanuel H. (#2076) Webb, Alfonso & Charlotte (#777, #778) Whelan, Frederick (# 662, Fourth Ward; # 667, Amogerone Fire and Hose Company, No. 2) Whelan, Leonard (#661; Fourth Ward) White, F. Warren (#2309, #2310; Field Point Road) ✓ White, Henrietta Walker (#2441A [audio only]; Steamboat Road) Whittelsey, Souther (#817, #818; Pecksland Road area)

Chickahominy

Borchetta, Charles (#2487; Post Road) ✓ DiAngelo, Salvatore (#2883) Evaristo, Josephine (#581) ✓ Morano, Albert P. (#2284) ✓ Real, Thomas M. (#2865) Sciarrillo, Tony (#2714; barbershop) Smith, Edna (#2398)

Cos Cob

Anderson, Edward (#2358) Anderson, Nelson (#534A; fire department) Barragan, Marigle Alarcon-Vargas (#2906) Benoit, Joseph (#2552; boating) Bolling, Raynal C., Jr. (#2438; Palmer Engine Company) ✓ Branca, James (#2581) Brush, Katherine (#240; Strickland Road) Caravella, Louis (#2424) Clark, Charles A. (#255) Clark, Leonard S. (#260, #263 ✓) Coan, Stuart (#2885; World War II – Before and After) Constante, Maria Emperatiz "Empy" (#2886) Curcio, Joseph (#416) Ferris, Dorothy (#2296) Finney, Daphne (#2787; World War II Home Front) Finney, James, Jr. (#2789; World War II Home Front and Mianus River) Fujitani, Robert (#2880) Gross, Arthur (#2364; Clam Box Restaurant; published with Jerry Porricelli, Sr.) ✓ Harris, Griffith (#2006) ✓ Klumpp, Otto (#802) Levine, Benjamin (#453) Loomis, Elizabeth (#616 [audio only]) Lounsbury, Harry M. (#641; Strickland Road; fire department; published with Lowell) 🗸 Lowell, Katherine (#658; Strickland Road; Holley Inn; published with Lounsbury) 🗸 Marzullo, Anthony M. (#2676) Merck, Josie (#2933; O'Neil Amphitheater, Lia Fail) Nelson, John E. (#2890; The Twachtman House) Nichols, Carolee (#2598; 1950s childhood) Nickerson, Mary Jane (#2252; Cat Rock Road) Oarr, Sarah Jane (#2447)

O'Neil, Horton & Madelyn (#767; #770; Valley Road) O'Neil, Madelyn (#2680) Orrico, Allyn (#2681) Orrico, Nancy J. Reynolds (#2682) Ostrander, Harriet H. (#846 [audio only]; Stanwich) Palmer, Milo Lewis (#2038) Phillips, Florence (#2937, O'Neil Amphitheater, dramatic arts in schools) Porricelli, Gennaro (Jerry, Sr.); (#2371, Food Mart; published with Gross) ✓ Relihan, Helen T. (#2304, #2305; Stanwich Road) Riska, Gertrude (#2407, power plant, #2497, village in 1920s and 30s) ✓ ✓ Rutherford, Nathalie (#2298) Salomon, Rabbi Deborah (#2941; Hebrew Wizards) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493) Sechi, Patricia Degelmann (#2893) Seton, Anya (#521) Silver, Wendy (#2944; Cos Cob Library) Smith, Alan (#2795; Wertheim estate) Taylor, Alex (#546, #547) Tuchman, Barbara W. (#2351) Von Keyserling, Christopher (#2689 [audio only]) West, Chester W. (#2387, #2388, #2389, #2390; fire department) ✓ Wolcott, Nancy Lawder (#797; Stanwich Lane) Young, F. Albion (#734)

<u>Glenville</u>

Adams, Mary Chmielowiec (#849) *The American Felt Company* (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) ✓ Borowiec, Frank (#2405; American Felt Company) Buzzeo, Joseph (#2426; American Felt Company) Chmielowiec, Catherine (#899, #900 [audio only]) Clark, James J. (#2260 Curtis, Roswell M. (#2411; American Felt Company) Duncan, Perry (#703; Bailiwick development) Favor, Katie (#678) ✓ Geraghty, Frances Chmielowiec (#603) ✓ Gillick, Thomas J., Jr. (#363, fire department; #2419, American Felt Company) Heavey, James J. (#2476; fire department) Hvolbeck, Charles J. (#2110) Jouret, George (#591) ✓ Jouret, May (#421) Krull, Marie (#2010) Matthews, John (#2268 [audio only], Weaver Street) O'Brien, Ann (#491) Orlovitz, Molly (#2078) Reagan, Bruce W. (#2492 [audio only], American Felt Company) Riakowski, Alexander & Sophie (#2403; American Felt Company) Schacter, Ralph (#2404; The Mill) Sczesny, Andrew F. (#2412, #2413; American Felt Company) Taylor, Cherry Grafton (#2431) Zygmont, Michael J. (#2415; American Felt Company) ✓

Mead's Point

duBois, J. Delafield (#1032) Griswold, John S. (#2596) Reynolds, Whitman Mead, M.D. (#2030, #2031) ✓ Spann, Alexandra Clarke (#526, #527, #528; Sandy Beach) ✓ Tabell, Margaret (#2456)

<u>Mianus</u>

Bruno, August (#1060) Clark, Charles A. (#257) Curcio, Joseph (#416) Curcio, Mary (#418) ✓ Hartley, Wakeman (#386) ✓ Jones, Florence Wescott (#841) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378) ✓ Newman, Genevieve (#2161; Newman Hotel) Pickett, Emma Knapp (#275) Ruskovic, Alice (#280) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493, #2494; landings)

North Mianus and Havemeyer Park

See also ESTATES: Havemeyer Estate (Hilltop) Ashwell, Thomas B. (#2547l Havemeyer Park) Belmont, Anthony (#335) ✓ Belmont, Ernest (#232) Bloch, Barbara Bemis (#854, District 12; Havemeyer Park) Bonvenuto, Manuel (#2670; North Mianus School) Chamberlain, Ruth (#752; Community Center) DeForest, Sarah (Sadie) Morrow (#2290; Havemeyer estate) Ferris, Edgar, and Mildred Ferris Wescott (#2291; Ferris farm) Finney, Florence (#997) Finney, James A., Jr. (#2543, # 2786) Finney, James A., Sr. (#351) Hartley, Wakeman (#386) ✓ Havemeyer Park, An Oral History (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) 🗸 Leonard, Victor (#891) McGeorge, Margaret (#787) Mitchell, Abner (#891; Palmer Hill Road) Monteleone, Rose (#874) Porricelli, Gerald J. (Jerry, Jr.) (#2549; Havemeyer Park) O'Neil, Horton & Madelyn (#770) Ridenour, Virginia (#2586; Havemeyer Park) Ruscovic, Alice (#280) Tabell, Margaret (#2456; post-World War II housing) Vernet, Russell V. (#2592; Havemeyer Park) Wescott, Mildred Ferris, and Edgar Ferris (#2291, #2292; Ferris farm, site of Riverside Shopping Center)

Northwest Greenwich

See also **ESTATES** Augustin, John (#2518; King Street farm) Belding, John (#2385; Nichols estate) Brown, Betty Cobbs (#2672 [audio only], 608 Lake Avenue, former Seton estate) Caldwell, Joan (#2900) Curry, R. Eugene (#2207, Yale Farms) Duncan, Perry (#703; Bailiwick development) Guy, Louise (#2319; Nichols estate; Yale Farms) Hart-Rogers, Margaret (#2783; Riversville Road) Hvolbeck, Charles J. (#2110; Riversville Road) ✓ Jacob, Leonard (#2202; proposed railroads) Jones, Ethel (#945; African-American resident) Lauricella, Virginia (#2020; Riversville Road) MacKay, James (#2794; Riversville Road) Milliken, Phoebe (#2636; Byram Gorge) Obrig, Virginia (#2554) Schilt, Vernon (#2052, #2053; Quaker Ridge) Schmaling, James (#2100, #2101; King Street) ✓ Taylor, Cherry Grafton (#2431)

Old Greenwich

See also North Mianus and Havemeyer Park; ESTATES; LIBRARIES & MUSEUMS: Perrot Memorial Library Ashwell, Carol (#2669) Belding, John (#2385; 1938 hurricane) Bennett, Wyatt (#2848; Bennett Jewelers) Black, Edythe F. (#2167; Perrot Memorial Library) ✓ Boles, Ambrose (#2350) Bryon, Benjamin H., Jr. (#1036, #2595) Buckland, John A. (#2579; Tomac Historic Burying Ground Association) Cardwell, Hilda Strait (#2490; Art Society) Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366) ✓ Clark, Walter (#2589) Crichton, William (#2265) Crosby, Clifton (#864; Greenwich Civic Center) Cuff, William (#2361) DeLuca, Frank & Lucille (#2718; Kerr's Village Pharmacy) Doran, Betsy (#2790) Engborg, Evelyn (#2539; Art Society) Ferris, George Dunbar (#2511) Ficker, David (#2600) Ficker, Mary Dodge (#359) ✓ Ficker, Thiel (#357) Finch, William E., Jr. (#342) Fitter, Dorothy (#1075) Flynn, Anne Crucitti (#2333; Adams Corner) Ford, Clyde (#356) Gaudio, Joseph A. (#2673) Gibson, Elizabeth (#2044; Laddin's Rock Farm) Gisborne, C. Carleton (#372) Gisborne, F. Reginald, Jr. (#742) ✓ Happy, Doris (#2473) Harbeck, Dorothy (#794) Henninger, Charles (#2480; Greenwich Civic Center) ✓ Hill, Richard K. (#2580; Tomac Historic Burying Ground) Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich) Kendall, Judith (#2495) Linley, Cassandra MacFarlane (#2266) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378) ✓ Lucas, Walter H., and Joseph Sanger (#472; fire department) Mahoney, Mary Reilly (#2186)

Milliken, Jane E. (#2884) Mortimer, Harry S. (#680) ✓ Nolan, Barbara (#2915; Community Centers, Inc.) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate) Palmer, S. Pierson (#1090) Phillips, Marian (#2837; commercials filmed at Binney Park) Porricelli, Gennaro (Jerry, Sr.) (#2371; Food Mart; published with Gross) ✓ Primo, Albert (#2911) Sampson, Meredith (#2945; Tod's Point beach, wildlife, climate change) Sandlock, Stanley (Sandy) (#2565; Watts/Feinsod Hardware Store) Scafidi, Damaris Dargay (#2806; Binney Park environs) Tabell, Margaret (#2456; World War II civil defense) *Tod's Point* (anthology, ed., Barbara H. Ornstein) ✓

Pemberwick

Besier, Elizabeth (#408 [audio only]) Fitzpatrick, Mary Esther (#2444) Horne, Virginia (#2243; Weaver Street) Mazza, Anthony P. (#732; published with Everett Fisher, #2239) ✓ Siclari, Vincetta (#514) Sorrento, John (#2346, #2347, #2348) ✓

<u>Riverside</u>

Avann, Douglas (#2599) Cantavero, Ada (#824; published with Simpkins) ✓ Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366) ✓ Chetcuti, Mariel C. (#2891) Davenport, Mariana (#319 [audio only]) Didriksen, Caleb (#812 [audio only]) Drake, Charles (#1070; published with Harcourt and Hipkins) ✓ Eizayaga, Adriana (#2895; Moving to Greenwich from Argentina) Ferris, Edwin, and Mildred Ferris Wescott (#2291; Ferris farm) Fidao, Lloyd (#2472) George, Marjorie Jones (#2250; Jones Park) Gisborne, F. Reginald, Jr. (#742) ✓ Harcourt, Ellen (#320; Willowmere; published with Drake and Hipkins) ✓ Hipkins, Clifton A. (#696; yacht club; published with Drake and Harcourt) ✓ Hone, Lynne Williams (#2942; growing up in the 1940s and 50s) Huffington, Julia (#2194) Hunt, Elizabeth Palmer (#2392 [audio only])

Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich) Hunt, Joseph Palmer (#2704) Jensen, Charles W., Jr., DDS (#2675) Lawson, S. Chapin (#2664; history of) Lee, Robert A. (#459) Lewis, Edwin & Margaret (#2248; Willowmere; Marks family) Loder, Ethel (#461) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; Hendrie Avenue) ✓ Lynch, Anthony Vincent (#278) Mecca, Nancy (#2923; My Families in Greenwich) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate) Ornstein, Barbara H. (#2558, Willowmere) Palmer, Paul P. (#918; 1938 hurricane, Willowmere) ✓ Palmer, W. Harold (#501; Marks family) Parker, Bertha Wilmot (#2217; Rossbottom Hill; Marks family) Phillips, John (#2804; Harbor Point and Pilot Rock Island) Simpkins, Robert (#497, #498; Riverside School; published with Cantavero) ✓ Spezzano, Elizabeth (#2636) Standard, Charles E. "Chuck" (#2874) Standard, Charles "Chuck" (#2912) Standard, Nancy Drake (#2784; during World War II) Tabell, Margaret (#2456) Webb, Charlotte & Alfonso (#777, #778; yacht club)

<u>Riversville</u>

Betteridge, Albert "Terry" E. III (#2875)

Round Hill

See also ESTATES Agnew, Dorothea Hamilton Sowers (#2774) Bennett, George (#717; Topping estate) ✓ Cartun, Darby (#2026) Close, Elizabeth (#270; back country churches) ✓ Duncan, Alexander (#305; Scottish Games) Hart-Rogers, Margaret (#2783; Scottish games) Hirshhorn, Olga Zatorsky (#980) ✓ Irvine, Lola (#2228) Jones, Ethel (#945; African-American resident) Lee, Leslie Simmons (#2910) McAulay, John (#476) Moore, Elizabeth Hyde (#282; Scottish Games) Nelson, John E. (#2890; The Twachtman House) Strain, Constance (#536 [audio only]) Walsh, Helen Wilshire (#2237) ✓

ARTS

Architecture

Baker, Sue Hout (#2845; Innes Arden Cottage, Greenwich Point) Barney, John, and Rhoda Barney Jenkins (#205) Christensen, R. Marshall (#2219; Byram Shubert Library) Christ-Janer, Victor (#2176; YWCA) Darst, Diane W. (#2643, Greenwich, Cos Cob, Libraries' construction projects) Duncan, Perry (#703; Bailiwick development) Finch, William E., Jr. (#347, early houses; #2338, Christ Church) Hoberman, Norman (#2120; for elderly) Ives, Philip (#413; Saint Barnabas Church) ✓ Jenkins, Rhoda (#207; architecture; naval architecture) Lowitz, Anson (#466; Bush-Holley House) Luders, J. Edward (#940; Saint Michael's Church) McDonald, Patricia (#2616) Merck, Josie (#2933; O'Neil Amphitheater) Mills, Willis N., Jr. (#2564; Lyon Farm) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate) O'Neil, Horton & Madelyn (#767, O'Neil marble amphitheater) ✓ Pomerance, Ralph (#374, Temple Sholom) Ritman, James (#2931; 9/11 Memorial, Cos Cob Park) Watt, Karen (#2733, #2744; Perrot Memorial Library addition). See also LIBRARIES & **MUSEUMS: Perrot Memorial Library**

<u>Art (visual)</u>

Anderson, Lydia (#2274; Bicentennial sculpture exhibit) Berris, Sandra (#2500) Bird, Rachel (#2553) Burke, Elizabeth (Betty) (#2878; Flinn Gallery) Brouwer, Irene (#2416; Friends of Greenwich Library lending art) *The Bruce Museum* – 100 Years of Change (seven narrators) ✓ Cardwell, Hilda Strait (#2490; Art Society of Old Greenwich) Caron, John B. (#2852) Chou, Marylin (#2839; Connecticut Ceramic Study Circle) Engborg, Evelyn (#2539; Art Society of Old Greenwich) Filley, Mary(#2257) ✓ Finch, William E., Jr. (#344, at Bush-Holley House) Fujitani, Robert (#2880) Gaud, Eleanor M. (#2391; Friends of Greenwich Library) Gordon, Ilse (#2712; Greenwich landscape painter) Gotch, John (#2369; photography) Hack, Renée (#2833; miniature room collection) Herman, Sandra R. "Sandy" (#2882; Flinn Gallery) Hirshhorn, Olga Zatorsky (#980; Hirshhorn collection) ✓ Hone, Michael (#2952) Howes, Paul G. (#2197; at Bruce Museum) ✓ Jenkins-Sahlin, Coline (#2587; statue at U.S. Capitol) Lowitz, Anson (#466; at Bush-Holley House) Nelson, John E. (#2890; The Twachtman House) Ogden, Jean (#2002, #2396, Friends of Greenwich Library, lending art collection) O'Neil, Horton & Madelyn (#770, Mianus Valley artists) Owens, Lynn E. (#2666; Gaining Your Voice through the Arts) Tatge, Gretchen Everbach (#2836; photography and pastels; Art Society of Old Greenwich) Weir, Deborah (#2904; Greenwich Pen Women)

Arts Council and Center

Bogardus, Lela (#2562; Arts Council) DeGenaro, Mary Jane (#2262; Arts Council) Fleishman, Ernest (#2898) Hand, Betsy Jordan (#2700; Arts Council) Jenkins, Laura W. (#2303, Arts Council fund-raising) Juliano, Frank (#2801; Arts Council Executive Director) McDonald, Patricia (#2616; Arts Council/Art Center) Tatge, Gretchen Everbach (#2836)

Music and Dance

See also ASSOCIATONS & NONPROFIT ORGANIZATOINS: Greenwich Choral Society, Greenwich Symphony

Angland, Ida (#2781; conductor, The Gateway Classical Music Society) Bassi, Virginia R. K. (#2306; at Greenwich High School) Berris, Sandra (#2500) Bingaman, Helen (#2928; Grace Notes) Bogardus, Lela (#2562; dance; school dance programs; Pappas Pavilion)

Bott [Haughwout], Penny (#814; Greenwich Choral Society; music education at Greenwich High School)
Button, Robert (#2530)
Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366) ✓
Duffy, Esther (#2605; Greenwich Library music librarian; Friends concerts; Mrs.
Clementine Lockwood Peterson)
Durrell, Ernestine (#2743; music education; Greenwich Symphony Young People's
Concerts)
Eizayaga, Adriana (#2895; Moving to Greenwich from Argentina)
Felding, Cathrine (#2066; Greenwich Philharmonia [Symphony]) 🗸
Ficker, David B. (#2600; Sound Beach Fire Department band; in schools)
Filley, Mary (#2257; Greenwich Choral Society) ✓
Foote, Felicity (#2769; Greenwich Ballet Studio)
Fountain, Leatrice (#970; Greenwich Choral Society) 🗸
French, Margaret (#1055, #2409; Friends of Greenwich Library events)
Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center)
Gray, George, and Ray Malone (#2421; music in public schools) 🗸
<i>Greenwich Symphony – 53 Years of Superb Performances</i> (anthology, ed. Sheila
Szymborski) 🗸
Harcourt, Ellen (#320; Dudley Quartet; published with Drake and Hipkins) 🗸
Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich; Sound Beach Fire Department Band)
Jeffrey, Marianne (#2068; Greenwich Philharmonia [Symphony]) 🖌
Knapp, J. Edward (#2380; freelance band)
Kotula, Corinta N. Ciano (#2785; Greenwich Symphony fund-raising) 🗸
Lally, Walter James (#2840; American Legion Fife and Drum Corps; fife player)
Malone, Raymond (#2610; choral music at high school)
McAulay, John (#476; dulcimer music)
McGirr, Maggie (#2930; Grace Notes)
Moffly, Donna (#2927; Grace Notes)
Oarr, Sarah Jane (#2447; Putnam Band)
O'Neil, Madelyn (#769, #767; dance)
Ossewaarde, Jack (#2332; Greenwich Choral Society)
Quinlan, Helen Haggerty (#975; freelance pianist) ✓
Radcliffe, Mary (#2572, #2838; Greenwich Symphony) ✓
Rutherford, Nathalie (#2298; Greenwich Choral Society)
Shippee, Elizabeth L. (#2834; Greenwich Symphony) ✓
Tripodi, Rick (#2936; Organist, Choir Master)
Van Voorhies, Eunice L. (#2321; Stony Wilde Retreat)
Weir, Deborah (#2904; Greenwich Pen Women)
Williams, Sallie (#2813; Greenwich Choral Society)

Theater and Film

Bingaman, Helen (#2928; Grace Notes) Hale, Helen (#693; Studio Workshop Players) ✓ Hamilton, Lois Fern (#2717; The Acting Company and others) Hoberman, Mary Ann, and Gunilla B. Norris (#925; Pocket People) Huggard, Margaret, and Ruth Finch (#737; Connecticut Playmakers) ✓ Jenkins-Sahlin, Coline (#2587; Third Wave Film Co.) McGirr, Maggie (#2930; Grace Notes) Merck, Josie (#2933; O'Neil Amphitheater) Moffly, Donna (#2927; Grace Notes) Morgan, Ruth (#2300; GHS; Summer Youth Festival) ✓ O'Neil, Horton & Madelyn (#767, O'Neil marble amphitheater) ✓ Phillips, Florence (#2937, O'Neil Amphitheater, dramatic arts in schools) Quinlan, Helen Haggerty (#975; vaudeville, burlesque, minstrel shows) ✓ Standard, Charles "Chuck" (#2912; Turkey of the Month Club) Tabell, Margaret (#2456; Playmakers; Riverside Revels) Wolcott, Nancy Lawder (#797; various local groups)

Writing

Berris, Sandra (#2500) Bushell, Esther (#2766; publishers) Caron, John B. (#2852; Great Book Discussion Series) DiGiovanna (#2902; Greenwich Pen Women) Dumas, Jerry (#2859; Cartooning and Writing) Fast, Howard (#2628; author) Hoberman, Mary Ann (#2808; children's poetry books; Children's Poet Laureate) Johnson, Pyke, Jr. (#2645; poems for children) Weir, Deborah (#2904; Greenwich Pen Women)

<u>Other</u>

Bushell, Esther S. (#2766; book club facilitator) Gardiner, Debbie, and Jesa Damora (#286; ghost stories, Conyers Farm) McClelland, Kate (#2559; storytelling at Perrot Memorial Library) Owens, Lynn E. (#2666; Gaining Your Voice through the Arts) Phillips, Marian (#2588; Japanese storytelling at Perrot Memorial Library) Pishkur, Gary (#626; ghost stories, Conyers Farm)

ASSOCIATIONS & NONPROFIT ORGANIZATIONS

See also LIBRARIES & MUSEUMS: Greenwich Library

99 for One

Ficker, David (#2600)

AAUW (American Association of University Women) Bird, Rachel (#2553)

Obrig, Virginia (#2554)

<u>Abilis (formerly GARC [Greenwich Association of Retarded Citizens])</u> Schaffner, Pamela (#2803)

Achievement Center

Pray, Malcolm Sheldon, Jr. (#2767)

Adopt-a-Dog

Halm, Allyson (#2793) Nives, Donna, and Allyson Halm (#2816)

<u>Adopt-a-Road</u> Malkin, Peter (#2918 Conservation and Preservation, Merritt Parkway)

<u>Alliance For Gene Therapy</u> Netter, Barbara (#2856)

American Red Cross See HEALTH & MEDICINE: American Red Cross

Arch Street Teen Center

Donahue, Judith (#2897; Arch Street Teen Center) Frantz, Scott (#2896; Arch Street Teen Center) Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center) Silver, Kyle (#2899; Arch Street Teen Center)

Archaeological Association of Greenwich

Bernard, Nancy S. (#2735)

Art Society of Old Greenwich

Cardwell, Hilda Strait (#2490) Engborg, Evelyn (#2539) Tatge, Gretchen Everbach (#2836) <u>Arts Council</u> See <u>ARTS: Arts Council</u>

At Home in Greenwich

Chou, Marylin (#2839; founder)

Audubon Society

Baptist, Thomas (#2623) Gilman, Ted (#2947, Greenwich Audubon) Hennington, Howard (#2375) Sampson, Meredith (#2945; wildlife in climate change) Van der Strict, Paul R. (#2604; founding of Greenwich Land Trust) Zeranski, Joseph (#2354) ✓

Belle Haven Club

Mecca, Nancy (#2923; My Families in Greenwich)

Book Clubs, various

Bushell, Esther (#2766)

Boys and Girls Club (formerly Boys Club)

Cartun, Darby (#2026) Gleason, John (#383; omitted from edited version) Lee, Leslie Simmons (#2910) Mazza, Anthony P. (#2239; published with Everett Fisher) ✓ Mecca, Nancy (#2923; My Families in Greenwich) Rutherford, William A. (#843, #844) ✓ Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493, #2494)

Boy Scouts

Avann, Douglas (#2599)Cartun, Darby (#2026)Clark, Charles A. (#255) ✓Clark, Leonard S. (#263) ✓Devaul, Willard (#300; property) ✓Francefort, Douglas (#2905)Hand, Leslie T. (#2175; published with Roxy von Hagen Hand) ✓Louden, Joseph S. (#2378) ✓McDermott, Patrick M. (#2871)Pray, Malcolm Sheldon, Jr. (#2767)

ORAL HISTORY PROJECT

Smith, Alan (#2795; Sea Scouts) Spann, Alexandra Clarke (#526, #528) ✓

<u>Breast Cancer Alliance</u> Day, Lucy, and Cecile P. McCaull (#2725)

Calf Island Conservancy

Baker, Sue Hout (#2845)

Call-A-Ride Reddin, Elaine (#2627)

Chamber of Commerce

McArdle, James Sr. (#884) McArdle, James B. III (#2873) Nado, Harry (#698, #2085)

Community Answers

Dodge, Linsley (Bud), Jr. (#2606) Moore, Betsy (#2593)

Community Chest/United Way See SOCIAL AGENCIES & PROBLEMS: Community Chest/United Way

Connecticut Ceramics Study Circle

Chou, Marylin (#2839)

Connecticut Trust for Historic Conservation Malkin, Peter (#2918)

<u>Corporate Angel Network</u> Blum, Priscilla, and Jay Weinberg (#2464)

Crispus Attucks Association

Alba, Carmen Martinez (#2256) Crosby, Clifton (#864) Hoyt, Barbara (#747) Lewis, Eileen O'Connor (#100) Napper, Alver W., Sr. (#636, #638) × Nolan, Barbara (#2915; Community Centers, Inc.) Steadwell, Gertrude Johnson (#2451, #2452) × Twine, George E. (#1065) ✓

Daughters of the American Revolution

Lowell, Katherine L. S. (#658; published with Drake and Hipkins) ✓ Owen, Gladys H. R. (#2445, #2745)

English Speaking Union

Ettinger, Barbara (#2773)

Family Centers, Inc.

Arnold, Robert M. (#2820) Figueroa, Carolina (#2921; Moving to Greenwich from Colombia) Rockefeller, Nancy (#291; early predecessor, Greenwich Center) ✓ Wenning, Adele D. (#2631)

Field Club

Baker, Dorothy (#252) Cummings, Lester (#448)

Flight Safety; International Academy of Aeronautics Heath, Gloria W. (#2870)

Gaining Your Voice through the Arts

Owens, Lynn E. (#2666)

Girl Scouts

Kendall, Judith (#2495) Lowell, Katherine L. (#658; re Juliette Low)

Grace Notes

Bingaman, Helen (#2928; Grace Notes) McGirr, Maggie (#2930; Grace Notes) Moffly, Donna (#2927; Grace Notes)

Great Book Discussion Series

Caron, John B. (#2852)

Greenwich Adult Day Care

Burns, Carol (#2749) Cartun, Darby (#2026)

Greenwich Astronomical Society

Bambrick, William (#2903 The Astronomical Society of Greenwich)

Greenwich Choral Society

Bott (Haughout), Penny (#814) Filley, Mary (#2257) Fountain, Leatrice (#970) Osseward, Jack (#2332) Rutherford, Nathalie (#2298) Shippee, Elizabeth L. (#2834)

Greenwich Citizens Forum for a Nuclear Weapons Freeze

Guillet, Lucy (#2913)

Greenwich Community Gardens

Sechi, Patricia Degelmann (#2893)

<u>Greenwich Country Club</u> Dodge, Linsley (Bud), Jr. (#2606; fire at)

Greenwich Council on Youth and Drugs

Donahue, Judith (#2921)

Greenwich Daffodil Club Mott, Nancy B. (#2646)

Greenwich Democratic Women's Club

Bloch, Barbara Bemis. (#2525) Sager, Margaret Huntley (#290)

Greenwich Environmental Action Group (GEAG)

Jinishian, Lucy M. (#990)

Greenwich Garden Education Center (Montgomery Pinetum)

(formerly Greenwich Garden Center) Beebe, Lisa (#2822) Duff, Jane (#1080) ✓ Lawlor, William (#446)

Greenwich Green and Clean

Betteridge, Albert "Terry" E. III (#2875)

Malkin, Peter (#2918 Conservation and Preservation, Merritt Parkway)

Greenwich Homing Pigeon Club

Imbrogno, Louis (#2624, #2639)

Greenwich Hospital Gift Shop; Thrift Shop See <u>HEALTH & MEDICINE</u>: Greenwich Hospital

Greenwich Jewish Federation

Perlstein, Norma G. (#2841)

Greenwich Land Trust

Cook, Molly Cummings Minot (#2853) Badger, Mariette (#332) Barrett, Daniel V. (#2763; Conservation Director) ✓ Davies, Betty (#2917; Early Years at Christ Church) Hennington, Howard (#2375) Lee, Leslie Simmons (#2910) van der Strict, Paul R. (#2604)

Greenwich Lawn Bowling Club

Novak, Frances (#2748)

Greenwich Library See Libraries & Museums

Greenwich Library Oral History Project See **HISTORY**

Greenwich Miniaturists Club Hack, Renée (#2833)

Greenwich Old Times Athletic Association

Sechi, Nino (#2863)

Greenwich Pen Women

Berris, Sandra (#2500) DiGiovanna, Kathleen (#2902) Moonie, Liana (#2907) Weir, Deborah (#2904)

Greenwich Point Conservancy

Baker, Sue Hout (#2845)

<u>Greenwich Recycling Action Center - GRAB</u> Francefort, Douglas (#2905)

Greenwich Riding and Trails Association

Bartol, Norma (#2708) Davies, Betty (#2721) Davies, Betty (#2917; Early Years at Christ Church) Freedman, Jennifer (#2831; acquisition of Nichols Preserve) Kelsey, Elise Boyce "Sis" (#2707) Serrell, Margarita (#2722)

Greenwich Senior Center. See ELDERLY

Greenwich Symphony Orchestra (formerly The Greenwich Philharmonia)

Durrell, Ernestine B. (#2743; Young People's Concerts) Felding, Cathrine B. (#2066) Jeffrey, Marianne R. (#2068) Kotula, Corinta N. Ciano (#2785; fund-raising) Radcliffe, Mary J. (#2572; #2838) Shippee, Elizabeth L. (#2834)

Greenwich Tree Conservancy

Malkin, Peter (#2918) Messina, JoAnn (#2821)

Greenwich Women's Exchange

Schmitz, Veronica (#2761)

Historical Society See HISTORY, Historical Society of the Town of Greenwich

Hispanic Club of Greenwich

Korn, Veronica (#2652) Martinez, Rev. German (#2660) Taborda, Amada (#2661) Indian Harbor Club

Cartun, Darby (#2026)

Innis Arden Golf Club

Gisborne, F. Reginald, Jr. (#742) ✓ *Tod's Point* (anthology, ed., Barbara H. Ornstein) ✓ Mecca, Nancy (#2923; My Families in Greenwich)

Jewish Family Center

Perlstein, Norma G. (#2841)

Junior League

Cartun, Darby (#2026) Jacob, Phyllis (#2318) Pray, Malcolm Sheldon, Jr. (#2767; hosting debutante cotillions)

Junior Woman's Club

Finch, Louise (#2293

<u>Kids in Crisis</u> Wyman, Ralph M. and Lotte A. "Toni" (#2881)

Knights of Columbus

Steadwell, Gertrude Johnson (#2451) ✓ Whelan, Frederick J., Sr. (#662)

League of Women Voters

See GOVERNMENT & POLITICS

Lee Haven Beach Club Napper, Alver W., Sr. (#637) ✓

Lions Club, Old Greenwich Ficker, David (#2600)

Maritime Aquarium, Norwalk

Reddin, Elaine (#2627)

Alliance For Gene Therapy

Netter, Barbara (#2856)

Mystery Club

Finch, William E., Jr. (#348)

NAACP

Coan, Stuart (#2885; World War II – Before and After) Lewis, Eileen (#100) Napper, Alver W., Sr. (#636, #638) ✓ Nins, Rev. Thomas (#2940) Robinson, Winston (#2647) Steadwell, Gertrude Johnson (#2451) ✓ Twine, George E. (#1065) ✓

Nature Conservancy, The

Curry, R. Eugene, and Anne Hubbell French (#2410) Milliken, Phoebe (#2363)

Neighbor to Neighbor

Davies, Betty (#2917; Early Years at Christ Church) Sheridan, Catherine Elizabeth (#2810)

NOW (National Organization for Women)

Martin, Barbara (#2515) Patterson-Rogers, Joyce (Rooker) (#2534) Spalding, Elizabeth C. (#2537)

Old Timers Athletic Association

Sechi, Nino (#2863)

Pathways, Inc.

Perlstein, Norma G. (#2841)

Perrot Memorial Library See Libraries & MUSEUMS

Pilsudski Society

Mazurek, Andrzej (#2922; A Polish-American's Immigrant Experience)

Red Cross

See HEALTH & MEDICINE: American Red Cross

Retired Men's Association

Francefort, Douglas (#2905) Hartig, Albert M. (#2876) Lorenz, Alfred (#2208) Mazurek, Andrzej (#2922; A Polish-American's Immigrant Experience)

Rotary Clubs

Borchetta, Charles (#2487; not in published version) Caravella, Louis (#2424) Everett, Alfred E. (#2035)

Salvation Army

Betteridge, Albert "Terry" E. III (#2875)

<u>Save Our Shores</u> Conboy, Josephine (#2851)

<u>Seton's Indians</u> See also <u>Boy Scouts</u> Clark, Leonard (#263) Lowell, Katherine L. S. (#658)

<u>Sokol Club</u> Darula, Adelaide (#2162)

<u>SoundWaters</u> Baker, Sue Hout (#2845)

<u>St. Michael's Women's Association</u> Barragan, Marigle Alarcon-Vargas (#2906)

Tomac Historic Burying Association Buckland, John A. "Sandy" (#2579)

Hill, Richard K. (#2580)

Transportation Association of Greenwich (TAG)

Schaffner, Pamela (#2803)

War Resisters League

Guillet, Lucy (#2913)

Westchester-Fairfield Horticulture Society

Gospodinoff, Alex & Lucy (#2752) Marzullo, Anthony M. (#2676) Palmer, Mary Jo Bridge, and Samuel F. Bridge, Jr. (#2750)

Woman's Club of Greenwich

Caldwell, Viola (#2450) Finch, Louise (#2293; Junior WCG) Graham, Isabelle R. (#2394) Mayfield, Dorothy (#2453) Pleasanton, Faith (#2434)

United Way

See SOCIAL AGENCIES & PROBLEMS: Community Chest/United Way

Yacht Clubs

See BOATS & SAILING

<u>YMCA</u>

Lorenz, Alfred (#2176) Palmer, W. Harold (#501) Perlstein, Norma G. (#2841) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493) Sobek, Joseph G. (#2484) Dumas, Jerry (#2859)

YWCA

Christ-Janer, Victor (#2176) Donovan, Annie [#913; audio only] Erb, Caroyl (#1095) Lee, Leslie Simmons (#2910) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493) Turner, Virginia (#784) White, Gertrude (#729) Wyman, Ralph and Lotte 'Toni" (#2881)

BANKING & FINANCE; DEPRESSIONS & RECESSIONS See also GOVERNMENT & POLITICS: GREENWICH TOWN GOVERNMENT: Finance Department

Fidao, Lloyd (#328, Putnam Trust Company)

Gisborne, F. Reginald, Jr. (#742; Greenwich Trust Company) MacKay, James (#2794; Greenwich Trust Company) Slater, Imogene W. (#2288; local accountant) Weir, Deborah J. (#2904; Greenwich Pen Women)

Great Depression

Buckland, John A. (#2579) Clark, Walter (#2589) Geraghty, Frances Chmielowiec (#603) ✓ Harris, Griffith E. (#2005) ✓ MacKay, James (#2794) McWilliams, Florence (#601) Rutherford, William A. (#843) ✓ Smith, Alan (#2795) Steinberg, Sadye (#531)

BOATS & SAILING

<u>General</u>

Bolling, Raynal C., Jr. (#2438; Palmer Engine Company) ✓ Borchetta, Charles (#2487) ✓ Bryon, Benjamin H., Jr. (#1035) Eizayaga, Adriana (#2895; Moving to Greenwich from Argentina) Erdmann, William (#366; Island Beach ferry captain) ✓ Finney, James A., Jr. (# 2543; 2736, Mianus River)) Finney, James A., Sr. (#351) Fujitani, Robert (#2880) Haughwout, J. A. B. (#391) Hubbard, Henry (#772; Benedict yacht, Oneida) Lauder, George (#2365) Newton, Irving C. (#2313; yacht captain) Palmer, C. Fred (#714) Palmer, W. Harold (#501) Sharp-Bolster, Melanie (#2254; family sailing) Washburn, Loring (#1010) Whittelsey, Souther (#817)

Shell Fishing

Bassett, Horace H., DDS (#2080) ✓

Bertolf, Gustave J., Sr. and Jr. (#2824; lobstering) Chard, Clarence (#250; oystering) ✓ Ford, Clyde (#356) Hansen, Harold (#1020) Hunt, Elizabeth Palmer (#2392; oystering [audio only]) Jinishian, Lucy M. (#2739, Shellfish Commission) Jones, Florence Wescott (#841) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378) ✓ Palmer, C. Fred (#714; oystering) Palmer, S. Pierson (#1090) Palmer, W. Harold (#501; oystering) Pickett, Emma Knapp (#275; oystering) Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront)

Yacht Clubs

Benoit, Joseph (#2552; Mianus River Boat and Yacht Club) Borchetta, Charles (#2487; Greenwich Boat and Yacht Club; Indian Harbor) ✓ Bragdon, Earle (#2324; Old Greenwich; not in published version) Davids, Georgina (#2132; Riverside) Fidao, Lloyd (#2472, Riverside) Hipkins, Clifton A. (#697; Riverside; published with Drake and Harcourt) ✓ Lauder, George (#2365; Indian Harbor) Lyon, Edward (#2283; Byram Shore Boat Club) Powers, Joseph (#2650; Old Greenwich) Quinn, Mary Ellen J. (#2825; various) Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront) Webb, Alfonso & Charlotte (#777; Riverside) Whittelsey, Souther (#817; Indian Harbor)

CONSERVATION, RIVERS, & NATURAL RESOURCES See also ESTATES: Tod's Point; ISLANDS; PARKS; WEATHER & OTHER DISASTERS

Aborn, Hermine Friedman (#2800; recycling) Badger, Mariette (#332; recycling; Greenwich Land Trust) Baker, Sue Hout (#2845; SoundWaters; Calf Island Conservancy; and others) Baptist, Thomas (#2623; Audubon Society, Conservation Commission) Barrett, Daniel V. (#2763; GHS oceanography teacher; Greenwich Land Trust) ✓ Bassett, Horace H., DDS (#2080) Baugh, Briggs (#2505; recycling) Bloomer, Franklin (#2751; Calf Island) Clark, Charles A. (#255) ✓ Conboy, Josephine B. (#2851; Save Our Shores) *Conservation in Greenwich* (anthology, ed., Jane Bentley) ✓ Curtis, Roswell M. (#2411; Byram River pollution) Dietrich, Joseph (#202; Parks and Trees Department) ✓ Dunson, Cheryl V. (#2711; water rights; state legislature) Favor, Katie (#678; Byram River pollution) ✓ Finney, James A., Jr. (#2543, #2786, Mianus River) Fox, Diane (#2582; Planning and Zoning) Freedman, Jennifer (#2831; Herbert L. Nichols Preserve) Fujitani, Robert (#2880; water pollution) Gillick, Thomas J., Jr. (#2419, Byram River pollution) Gilman, Ted (#2947, Greenwich Audubon) Girdler, Barbara (#2271, Planning and Zoning Commission) Griswold, Louise C. (#2655; community activist re saving Treetops) Haughwout, J. A. B. (#361, Byram River) Haughwout, J. A. B., and Penny Bott-Haughwout (#2510, Byram River pollution) Hennington, Howard (#2375; Audubon Society; Greenwich Land Trust) Horne, Virginia (#2243, Weaver Street conservation) Howland, Gertrude (#2377; Greenwich Avenue trees) ✓ Hull, Mary (#2625; town beautification) Jinishian, Lucy M.(#990, Greenwich Environmental Action Group; conservation; #2739, Greenwich Cove, Shellfish Commission Johnson, F. Walker (#2205; Conservation Commission) Lutz, Georg (#2491; Conservation Commission) MacKay, James (#2794; Byram River) Malkin, Peter (#2918; Rivers, Trees, Natural Resources) Messina, JoAnn (#2821; Greenwich Tree Conservancy) Mitchell, Abner P., DDS (#891; Mianus River) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Land Trust, Tree Conservancy, Real Estate) Pickett, Emma Knapp (#275; Mianus River) Reddin, Elaine (#2627; Maritime Aquarium, Norwalk) Sampson, Meredith (#2945; wildlife in climate change) Schilt, Vernon (#2052; wells; water purity and supply) Siclari, Vincetta (#514; Byram River) Spann, Alexandra Clarke (#526; Sandy Beach) ✓ Upham, Charles H. (#2454, #2467; Conservation Commission) van der Strict, Paul R. (#2604; Greenwich Land Trust founding)

Zeranski, Joseph (birds; various parks, #2354; starlings under bridge, published in *Mianus River Bridge Collapse*, #2481) ✓

CORPORATIONS

See also MERCHANTS & LOCAL BUSINESSES

<u>Local</u>

Belding, John (#2385; American Cyanamid) Belmont, Anthony (#335; Rippowam Mill; Belmont Feed Company) 🗸 Belmont, Ernest (#232; Rippowam Mill) Blackson, Andrew & Louise (#950; American Cyanamid) Bolling, Raynal C., Jr. (#2438; Palmer Engine Company) ✓ Bragdon, Earle (#2324; Condé Nast) ✓ Bushell, Esther (#2766; various publishers) Button, Robert (#2530; Cablevision) Clark, Leonard (#260, #264; Drinkwater Sons, Inc.) Caldwell, Joan (#2900; Westchester Airport) DeForest, John (#2357; Electrolux) Drabeck, Olga Frano (#563; Abendroth Foundry) Finney, James A., Sr. (#351; Mianus Manufacturing Company; other mills) Lally, Walter James (#2841; U.S. Government: Greenwich Post Office carrier) Latella, Domenick (#2145; Homelite) Lucas, Walter H., and Joseph Sanger (#472, Mianus Manufacturing Company) Margenot, Mary Manero (#2320; Connecticut Iron Works) • Mazurek, Andrzej (#2922; Conrail, Metro North; A Polish - American's Immigrant Experience) McCarty, Cornelius, Sr. (#596; Doran Brothers) Monteleone, Rose (#874; Rippowam Mill) Ruskovic, Alice (#280; Rippowam Mill) Sorrento, John (#2346; Russell, Burdsall & Ward) ✓ Valentine, Emanuel H. (#2076; Condé Nast) Ward, Harold T. (#474; Ham Boiler Corporation; Port Chester Aluminum Foundry) Willis, Bette (#2690; 19th century fishing business)

American Felt Company

The American Felt Company (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) ✓ Borowiec, Frank P. (#2405) Buzzeo, Joseph (#2426) Chmielowiec, Catherine Kuziara (#899) Curtis, Roswell M. (#2411) Favor, Katie (#678) ✓ Gillick, Thomas J., Jr. (#2419) O'Brien, Ann (#491) Reagan, Bruce W. (#2492 [audio only; excerpt in anthology above]) Riakowski, Alexander & Sophie (#2403) Schacter, Ralph (#2404; company housing; development of The Mill) Sczesny, Andrew F. (#2412) Sorrento, John (#2346) ✓ Zygmont, Michael J. (#2415)

<u>National</u>

Bantle, Louis Francis (#2273; U. S. Tobacco)
Blum, Priscilla, and Weinberg, Jay (#2464; Corporate Angel Network; re corporate planes)
Caldwell, Joan (#2417; #2900 Xerox site controversy) ✓
Chmielowiec, Catherine (#899)
Dennis, Santina Lauricella "Tina" (#2514; Fawcett Publications)
Gaudio, Joseph A. (#2673; Electrolux)
Jinishian, Lucy M. (#990, General Reinsurance)
Marzullo, Anthony (#2676; Union Carbide)
May, William (#905; American Can)
McDermott, Patrick M. (#2871; Pfizer, Inc., Texaco Inc.)
Murray, George (#2677; U. S. Tobacco Co.)
Primo, Albert (#2911; Dumont TV; Westinghouse Broadcasting Co.)
Riska, Gertrude (#2407; New York, New Haven, and Hartford Railroad; Cos Cob power plant)

Van Dorn, Roberta (#2050; General Reinsurance)

ELDERLY

Burnett, Jara (#2759; Greenwich Adult Day Care) Burns, Carol (#2749; Greenwich Adult Day Care) Caldwell, Viola (#2450; Meals-On-Wheels) Chou, Marylin (#2839; founder, At Home in Greenwich) Diefenbach, Kari (#2654; Senior Center) Donahue, Judith (#2921) Ekberg, Margaret L. (#2281Commission on Aging) Farrell, Jeanne (#2476) Frank, Johanna Hertogh (#2259; The Mews) Goldstein, Maxine (#2662; Commission on Aging) Harris, Griffith E. (#2005; housing for) ✓ Hauptman, Betty (#2812; past chairman, Commission on Aging) Hitchcock, Rev. Martin (#2308; GREATS; Commission on Aging) Hoberman, Norman (#2120; housing for) Howland, Gertrude (#2374, Nathaniel Witherell Home) ✓ Jacob, Phyllis (#2318) Lally, Walter James (#2840; The Mews) Queenan, John W. (#2282; Senior Center) Reddin, Elaine (#2627; Call-A-Ride) Rockefeller, Nancy C. (#291; The Mews; Nathaniel Witherell Home) ✓ Shaw, Milda W. (#2810; Red Cross services to) Smith, Esther H. (#2315, GREATS) ✓ Standard, Nancy Drake (#2784; GREATS) Woodd-Cahusac, Rev. Sydney (#2630; Commission on Aging) Wright, Rev. Dr. Heather Parkinson (#2842; Greenwich Chaplaincy Services)

ESTATES

See also **PARKS**: Tod's Point

Benedict estate

Bassett, Horace H., DDS (#2080) ✓ Curley, Grace S. (#782) Hubbard, Henry (#772)

Chieftans (Gimbel estate)

Gimbel, Barbara P. (#2316) *The Gimbel Family at Chieftans* (anthology, ed., Eloise Mills) ✓ Schovel, William H. (#2335) Stevenson, Marion H. (#2327) Vanderwerken, Marion (#2337)

Conyers Farm (Converse estate)

Bott [Haughwout], Penny (#285A, #287) Drew, William B. (#2524) Enright, Eleanor (#315) ♥ Fink, William (#2231; Rosenstiel period) ♥ Gardiner, Deborah, and Jesa Damora (#286; ghost stories) Hozeny, Ferdinand (#406) Mix, Jeannette Mills (#481) ✓ Ornstein, Barbara H. (#2545, apple picking during WWII) Pishkur, Gary (#626; ghost stories) Purdy, John (#511) Quinlan, Helen Haggerty (#975) ✓

Havemeyer Park; Havemeyer estate (Hilltop)

See also <u>AREAS</u>: <u>North Mianus and Havemeyer Park</u> Ashwell, Thomas B. (#2547; resident) Bloch, Barbara Bemis (#854, District 12; excerpt published in anthology) DeForest, Sarah (Sadie) Morrow (#2290; re Havemeyers) *Havemeyer Park* (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) ✓ Porricelli, Gerald J. (Jerry, Jr.) (#2549; president of homeowners association) Ridenour, Virginia Gehring (#2586; resident) Tunney, Jonathan R. "Jay" (#2797) Vernet, Russell V. (#2592; resident)

Hooker estate Rutherford, William A. (#843) ✓

Husted farm Owen, Gladys H. R. (#2745)

Lyon Farm condos (John Lyon farm)

See also <u>REAL ESTATE & LAND DEVELOPMENT</u> Bocchino, Ed (#2567) Collins, Arthur (#2538) Collins, Joan M. (#2747) deCholnoky, Ingrid (#2548) Horne, Virginia (#2243, #2540) Lyon, Sherill Ellsworth (#2555) Mills, Willis N., Jr. (#2564) Schoeller, Marcia (#2561)

Lyon, Thomas, family and house

Pollock, Julie Grey (#2827; Lyon family and house)

Marks (Amasa) family and estates

Gibson, Elizabeth (#2044; Laddin's Rock Farm)

Gisborne, F. Reginald, Jr. (#742; Laddin's Rock Farm) ✓ Lewis, Edwin & Margaret (#2248; Willowmere) Palmer, S. Pierson (#1090) Palmer, W. Harold (#501) Parker, Bertha Wilmot (#2217)

Mead property (Mead's Point)

DuBois, J. Delafield (#1032; history) Griswold, John S. (#2596) Mead, Helen V. (#859) Reynolds, Whitman Mead (#2030)

Quarry Farm (Reynolds/Bagley estate)

O'Donnell, Michael (#242, #243, #2334) Ornstein, Barbara H. (#2330, #2597) Reynolds, Nancy S. (#2329)

Rockefeller estates

Rafferty, Brendan G. (#1030; estate development) Rockefeller, Godfrey (#606, #2040) ✓ Rockefeller, J. Stillman (#2523)

Sabine Farm (Fisher estate)

Faulkner, Joan Fisher (#2297) Fisher, Agnew (#2279) Fisher, Bennett (#2275) Fisher, Everett (#2238) McStocker, Roger (#2311) Sabine Farm (anthology, ed., Eloise Mills) ✓ Schwadron, Gladys B. (#2302) Strong, Hazel B. (#2294)

Seton, Ernest Thompson, estates

Anderson, Edward (#2458; Cos Cob) Baptist, Thomas (#2623; Cos Cob, as Pomerance [town] property) Brown, Betty Cobbs (#2672 [audio only]; Lake Avenue estate) Clark, Leonard (#263; Cos Cob) ✓ Geraghty, Frances (#603; Lake Avenue estate) ✓ Hand, Leslie T. (#2175; Lake Avenue, current Boy Scout property) Hoisington, Edith N. (#2261)

Page 40 of 98

Louden, Joseph S. (#2378) ✓ Seton, Anya (#521) Smith, Alan (#2795; re Wyndygoul, Wertheim Cos Cob estate) Tuchman, Barbara W. (#2351; Wertheim family, Cos Cob)

Shell Island (Eimer family property)

Kristoff, Alberta (#2428; published with Leinbach) Leinbach, Mary Eimer (#2485; published with Kristoff) *Shell Island, Two Views of Magic Place* (ed., Wilma E. "Billie" Lauricella) ✓

Tod estate (Innis Arden)

See also PARKS: Tod's Point (Greenwich Point) Callachan, Joseph (#836; veterans' housing) Ficker, Thiel (#358; veterans' housing) Hankins, Martha (#2823; childhood at) Larsen, Arne (#441; estate and family) Lockwood, Marion (#403; veterans' housing) Lucas, Walter (#471) Lucas, Walter, and Joseph Sanger (#472) Lynch, Anthony Vincent (#278; Tod family) *Tod's Point* (anthology, ed., Barbara H. Ornstein) ✓

<u>Other</u>

Agnew, Dorothea Hamilton Sowers (#2774; Round Hill) Belding, John (#2385; Nichols estate) Bennett, George (#717; Topping estate) ✓ Curry, R. Eugene (#2207; Yale Farms [Sterling estate]) Devaul, Willard (#300; estate development) ✓ Gospodinoff, Alex & Lucy (#2752; various estate superintendents) Griswold, Louise C. (#2655; Treetops estate) Guy, Louise (#2319; Nichols estate) Hirschhorn, Fred (#774; Whitney Castle) Hone, Michael (#2952; Riley estate chauffeur's son) Lee, Leslie Simmons (#2910) McArdle, James B., III (#2873) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Preservation, Real Estate, Treetops estate) Owen, Gladys H. R. (#2445, #2745; Husted property) Palmer, Mary Jo Bridge, and Samuel F. Bridge, Jr. (#2750; various estate superintendents) Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront) Rutherford, William A. (#843; Hooker estate) ✓ Shell Island: Two Views of a Magic Place, Alberta Kristoff and Mary Eimer Leinbach

Smith, Alan (#2795; Wertheim estate) Washburn, Loring (#1012, Topping estate [Dunellen Hall]) Watt, Margaret (#2847; Brae Burn Farm) Weed, Candee (#2780; grandfather's Banksville farm)

Estate Workers and Domestics

Alba, Carmen Martinez (#2256) Bausal, Alberta E. (#2449) Blackson, Andrew & Louise (#950) Brown, Louise Van Dyke (#2187) ✓ Drew, William B. (#2524) Duncan, Alexander (#703) Echeverria, Leonora (#2156) Hirshhorn, Olga Zatorsky (#980; employment service) ✓ Hone, Michael (#2952; Chauffeur's son) Jones, Ethel (#945) Lyons, Catherine (#894) McAulay, John (#476) Spillane, Gertrude Finn (#935) ✓ Vaccarezza, Graciela (#2062)

ETHNIC GROUPS

African-American Bausal, Alberta E. (#2449) Blackson, Andrew & Louise (#950) Brown, Louise Van Dyke (#2187) ✓ Jones, Ethel (#945) Lewis, Eileen (#100) Moye, Eugene J., Sr. (#2508) ✓ Napper, Alver W., Sr. (#636, #638) ✓ Napper, Alver W., Sr. (#637, Lee Haven Beach Club) ✓ Nelson, John E. (#2890; The Twachtman House) Nins, Rev. Thomas (#2940) Perry, Robert (#631, #2322) Robinson, Wesley (#2685) Robinson, Winston (#2647) Smith, Edna (#2398) Steadwell, Gertrude Johnson (#2451)

Twine, George E. (#1065) ✓

<u>German</u>

Besier, Elizabeth (#408 [audio only]) Frank, Johanna Hertogh (#2259 [audio only]; German/Dutch) Gotch, John, Jr. (#2369) Kristoff, Alberta (#2428; Eimer family; published with Leinbach) ✓ Krois, Max L. (#633) Leinbach, Mary Eimer (#2485; Eimer family; published with Kristoff) ✓

Greek

Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366; Caloyianis family) ✓ Christopherson, Mary Comnes (#303) Milonas, Mary Condaras (#2359)

<u>Hispanic</u>

Alba, Carmen Martinez (#2256; Colombia) Amador, Arsenio (#2122; Cuba) Castrillo, Primo (#920 [audio only]; Bolivia) Chetcuti, Mariel C. (#2891; Argentina) Constante, Maria Emperatriz "Empy" (#2886; Colombia) Echeverria, Leonora (#2156; Peru) Korn, Veronica (#2652; Hispanic Center of Greenwich) Labraña, Jorge (#2203; Chile) Martinez, Rev. German (#2660; re Hispanic Center of Greenwich) McGinnis, Ana Maria (#2925; immigrating from Cuba) Mendive, Jackie (#2938; Argentina; launching a business) Strange, Donald (#2533; at Western Middle School) Taborda, Amada (#2661; Colombia; Hispanic Center of Greenwich) Ulloa, Adriel Augusto (#2894; Ecuador) Vaccarezza, Graciela (#2062; Chile)

<u>Irish</u>

Casey, Walter S. (#2709) Fitzpatrick, Mary Esther (#2444) Fox, Robert and Thomas (#2520) Gillick, Thomas J., Jr. (#363, #2419) Higgins, Francis J. (#376) ✓ Lawlor, William (#446) Lewis, Eileen O'Connor (#100) Murphy, John R. (#2512) Neville, John (#712) Nicholson, Frank (#611) O'Brien, Ann (#491) O'Donnell, Michael (#242, #243, #2334) Quinlan, Helen Haggerty (#975) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493) Spillane, Gertrude Finn (#935) Sprague, Frances & William (#2015)

<u>Italians</u>

Belmont, Anthony (#335) Belmont, Ernest (#232) Bocchino, Thomas (#227) Borchetta, Charles (#2487) ✓ Bruno, August (#1060) Bruno, Rose (#2482) Cantavero, Ada (#824; published with Simpkins) ✓ Caravella, Louis (#2424) Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366) ✓ Chimblo, Joseph (#2226) Curcio, Joseph (#416) Curcio, Louise (#433) Curcio, Mary (#418) ✓ D'Elia, Chancy (#965) ✓ Evaristo, Josephine (#581) ✓ Guerrieri, Michael (#2442) Latella, Domenick (#2145) Lauricella, Thomas J. (#2470; town courts) Margenot, Mary Manero (#2320) ✓ Marzullo, Anthony M. (#2676) Mazza, Anthony P. (#732; published with Fisher, Everett, #2239) ✓ Mitchell, Abner (#891) Monteleone, Rose (#874) Morano, Albert P. (#2284, #2286) ✓ O'Neil, Horton & Madelyn (#767, #770) Palermo, Nicholas (#571) Rassu, Ralph (#2436) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493) Sciarrillo, Tony (#2714) Sechi, Nino (#2863; Old Timers Athletic Association)

Siclari, Vincetta (#514) Sorrento, John (#2346) ✓ Spezzano, Elizabeth (#2636) Tripodi, Josephine (#2934; Family store on Greenwich Avenue) Tripodi, Rick (#2936; growing up above family store)

<u>Japanese</u>

Albert, David (#2550; Greenwich Japanese School) Davenport, Benjamin (#2516; at Eastern Middle School) Kurokawa family (#2536) McClelland, Kate (#2559; Perrot book collection; storytelling) Paluszek, Suzanne, and Masahiro Oji (#2617; Greenwich Japanese School) Phillips, Marian (#2588, #2802; Japanese storytelling at Perrot Memorial Library) Tabell, Margaret (#2456; Arai and Murai families) Tanaka, Mari (#2640)

Jews

Bentley, Peter (#2393; Fellowship of Greenwich Clergy) Deutsch, Richard E. (#2163) Eskowetz, Jennie Weiss (#325) ✓ Kletz, Marie (#431) Levine, Benjamin (#453) Levine, Jennie Marks (#451) Marks, Judge Leah Ruth (#2765) Perlstein, Norma (#2841; Temple Sholom; Greenwich Jewish Federation; Jewish Family Center) Pomerance, Ralph (#734, Temple Sholom) Resnick, Dr. David (#2684) Silverman, Rabbi Hillel (#2615; Temple Sholom) Steinberg, Sadye Cohen (#531) Tuchman, Barbara Wertheim (#2351) Tunick, Barbara (#2788) Tunick, David (#2179)

Poles

Adams, Mary Chmielowiec (#849) Borowiec, Frank (#2405) Chmielowiec, Catherine (#899) Geraghty, Frances Chmielowiec (#603) ✓ Jouret, May J. (#421) Krull, Marie (#2010) Mazurek, Andrzej (#2922; A Polish–American's Immigrant Experience) Riakowski, Alexander & Sophie (#2403) Sczesny, Andrew F. (#2412) Zygmont, Bruno (#923) Zygmont, Michael J. (#2415) ✓

Scandinavians

Anderson, Edward (#2458) Anderson, Nelson (#534A) Hall, Lillian (#688 [audio only]; Denmark) Hansen, Harold (#1020) Holbeck, Robert (#1085) Hvolbeck, Charles J. (#2110) Knudsen, Peter (#2517) Larsen, Arne (#441) Nielsen, Joyce Susanne (#2678) Nielsen, Kristian Fredlund (#2679; Denmark)

Scots

Duncan, Alexander (#305; Scottish Games) Hart-Rogers, Margaret (#2783; family; Scottish games) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378) ✓ McAulay, John (#476) McGeorge, William B. (#1013) ✓ Moore, Elizabeth Hyde (#282; Scottish Games) Rutherford, William A. (#843) ✓

Slovaks

Bella, Andrew (#215) ✓ Darula, Adelaide (#2162) ✓ Drabeck, Olga Frano (#563)

<u>Other</u>

Boles, Ambrose (#2350; Nova Scotians; Manx) Finch, William E., Jr. (#346; Native Americans) Fogg, Regina (#2949; The Fourth Ward ethnic mix) Hirshhorn, Olga Zatorsky (#980; Ukrainians) Hsu, Wen (#2755; Chinese Language School of Greenwich) Kristoff, Alberta (#2428; Lithuanians) Martinez, Rev. German (#2660; Spanish)

FARMING & GARDENING

Augustin, John (#2518; family farm) Barrett, Daniel V. (#2763; growing apple and American chestnut trees) 🗸 Beebe, Lisa (#2822; Garden Education Center at Montgomery Pinetum) Bennett, George (#717; at Topping estate) ✓ Bridge, Samuel F., Jr. (#2546; Sam Bridge Nursery) Bushby, Laura (#1045; Garden Center; Pinetum) Dietrich, Joseph A. (#202; Tree Warden) Drew, William B. (#2524; at Convers Farm) Duff, Jane (#1080; Greenwich Garden Center at Montgomery Pinetum) ✓ Eizayaga, Adriana (#2895; Moving to Greenwich from Argentina) Enright, Eleanor (#315; at Convers Farm) ✓ Faulkner, Joan Fisher (#2297; at Sabine Farm) Ferris, Edgar, and Mildred Ferris Wescott (#2291; at Ferris farm) Fisher, Agnew, Bennett, and Everett (#2279, #2275, # 2238; at Sabine Farm) Flynn, Joseph W. (#2811; Patsy Crucitti and Sons, Florists) Gimbel, Barbara P. (#2316; at Chieftans) Gospodinoff, Alex & Lucy (#2752; Westchester-Fairfield Horticultural Society) Heffron, Mary (#2234, garden clubs) Higgins, Francis J. (#376; back country farming) Horne, Virginia (#2243; garden clubs) Howland, Gertrude duPont (#2374; Green Fingers Garden Club) ✓ Hozeny, Ferdinand (#406; at Convers Farm) Hvolbeck, Charles J. (#2110) Kelsey, Elise Boyce "Sis" (#2707; Kelsey Farm) Lesan, Eloise (#553; Greenwich Garden Center) MacKay, James (#2794; Hvolbeck farm) Marzullo, Anthony (#2676; prize-winning dahlia grower) McArdle, James B., Sr. (#884; McArdle Seed Company) McStocker, Roger (#2311; at Sabine Farm) Mix, Jeannette Mills (#481, Hope Farm) ✓ Mott, Nancy (#2646; Greenwich Daffodil Club) O'Donnell, Michael (#242, #243, #2334, at Quarry Farm) Ornstein, Barbara H. (#2545; during WWII at Convers Farm)

Owen, Gladys H. R. (#2445; #2745; Independence Day celebration at Husted Farm) Palmer, Mary Jo Bridge, and Samuel F. Bridge, Jr. (#2750; Westchester-Fairfield Horticultural Society)
Pollock, Julie Grey (#2827; history of farming by Thomas Lyon family)
Purdy, John (#511; at Conyers Farm)
Reynolds, Nancy S. (#2329; at Quarry Farm)
Rutherford, William A. (#843; at Hooker estate) ✓
Schmaling, James (#2100; at Schmaling farm) ✓
Schovel, William H. (#2335; at Chieftans)
Smith, Alan (#2795; at the Wertheim estate, Wyndygoul)
Strong, Hazel B. (#2294; at Sabine Farm)
Webb, Alfonso & Charlotte (#777; during WWI at Conyers Farm)
Weed, Candee (#2780; at grandfather's farm)
Wescott, Mildred Ferris, and Edgar Ferris (#2291; Ferris farm)

FIRE DEPARTMENTS

(Note: Byram F. D. was formerly East Port Chester F. D.)

Anderson, Edward (#2458; Cos Cob) Anderson, Nelson (#534A; Cos Cob) Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366; Sound Beach) ✓ Cullen, John W. (#952; Central) Dodge, Linsley "Bud", Jr. (#2606; Sound Beach; Greenwich Country Club fire) Ferris, Dorothy (#2296; Cos Cob) Ficker, David (#2600; Sound Beach band) Fox, Robert and Thomas (#2520; Amogerone; Volunteer) Gardner, Cecil H. (#479; Cos Cob Fire Police Patrol) Gillick, Thomas J., Jr. (#363; Glenville) Gisborne, F. Reginald, Jr. (#742; Sound Beach) ✓ Heavey, James J. (#2674; Glenville's 100th anniversary) Knudsen, Peter (#2517; East Port Chester) Krois, Max L. (#633; East Port Chester) Lounsbury, Harry (#641; Cos Cob; published with Lowell) 🗸 Lucas, Walter H., and Joseph Sanger (#471; Sound Beach carnival; various fires) Riska, Gertrude (#2408; Cos Cob) ✓ Sorrento, John (#2346; Central) ✓ Strain, William N. H. (#2860, Round Hill Fire Department) West, Chester W. (#2381, #2387; various, especially East Port Chester; excerpt published in *Mianus River Bridge Collapse*) ✓

Whelan, Frederick J., Sr. (#667; Amogerone; Volunteer) Yerks, James L., Jr. (#2696; Cos Cob) Zygmont, Bruno (#923; Banksville)

GOVERNMENT & POLITICS

COMMUNITY ACTIVISM

See also League of Women Voters (below); UNITED NATIONS SITE CONTROVERSY; PEACE <u>MOVEMENT; VOLUNTEERISM</u>
Caldwell, Joan (#2417; Xerox site controversy)
Griswold, Louise C. (#2655; community activist re preserving Treetops)
Guillet, Lucy (#2913; Anti-Nuclear and Peace Movements)
Howland, Gertrude (#2377; re replanting trees on Greenwich Avenue)
Jinishian, Lucy M. (#990; GEAG and re General Reinsurance)
Leydon, Brenden P. (#2667; Tod's Point beach access lawsuit)
Lomazzo, Arline (#2826; decades-long effort for more sidewalks in town)
Stevens, Lydia H. (#2328, Greenwich Housing Coalition)

GREENWICH TOWN GOVERNMENT

Animal Control Office

Halm, Allyson (#2793)

Board of Education

Romero-Cantor, Armando (#2888; A Foothold in Two Nations) Edgar, William J. (#2070) Emery, Marietta (#492 [audio only]) Fleishman, Ernest (#2898) Hand, Roxy von Hagen (#2457; published with Leslie T. Hand) ✓ Hewitt, Henrietta Dana (#401) Houston, Harrison (#575) ✓ Johnson, Lucy Black (#2691) Price, S. Willard (#930) Taylor, Nan Scallon (later Abell; #2177)

Board of Estimate and Taxation

Bambrick, William (#2903 The Astronomical Society of Greenwich) Burnett, Jara (#2754) Chimblo, Joseph (#2226) Caldwell, Joan (#2900) Coan, Stuart (#2885; World War II – Before and After) Deutsch, Richard E. (#2163) ✓ Donahue, Judith (#2921) Fisher, Everett (#2239; published with Mazza, Anthony P.) ✓ Fleishman, Ernest (#2898) Gisborne, F. Reginald, Jr. (#742) ✓ Margenot, John B., Jr. (#2638) Mazza, Anthony P. (#2239; published with Fisher, Everett) ✓ Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate) Romero-Cantor, Armando (#2888; A Foothold in Two Nations) Rutgers, Alma (#2713) Sherman, William H. (#2056) Silver, Wendy (#2944; Cos Cob Library)

Whelan, Leonard F. (#661)

Board of Health

Beck, Edith, M.D. (#2614) Hauptman, Betty (#2812)

Charter Commissions

Belknap, Margaret George (#214) Fox, Annette B. (#2724)

Commission on Aging

Ekberg, Margaret (#2281) Goldstein, Maxine (#2662) Hitchcock, Rev. Martin (#2308) Queenan, John W. (#2282) Woodd-Cahusac, Rev. Sydney (#2630)

Community Development Action Plan

Abell, Nan Scallon Taylor (#2459) Brown, Nancy (#2507) Gisborne, F. Reginald, Jr. (#742) ✓ Gleason, John M. (#385; not in published version)

Conservation Commission

Baptist, Thomas (#2623) Hennington, Howard (#2375) Johnson, F. Walker (#2227) Lutz, Georg (#2491) Upham, Charles H. (#2454, #2467)

Finance Department

See also <u>BANKS & FINANCE</u>; <u>Tax Collector</u> (below) Branca, James (#2560; Tax Collector) Bridge, Helen (#724) Sherman, William H. (#2056) Webb, Alfonso (#777; Tax Collector)

Greenwich Emergency Medical Service (GEMS)

See also <u>HEALTH & MEDICINE</u>: <u>Miscellaneous</u>, for emergency services before GEMS Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center) O'Connor, Michael B. (#2459; published in *Mianus River Bridge Collapse*) ✓ Tufts, Charlee (#2741) Woodd-Cahusac, Rev. Sydney (#2630)

Housing Authority

Hubert, Richard (#762) Peterson, Alfred (#538) Pomerance, Ralph (#373) Robinson, Winston (#2647) Sechi, Patricia Degelmann (#2893) Updike, Mary (#869)

Parks and Recreation Department

Borchetta, Charles (#2487; parks) ✓ Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366; recreation) ✓ Crosby, Clifton (#864; recreation) Dietrich, Joseph A. (#202; Tree Warden) ✓ Donahue, Judith (#2921) Dougherty, Hugh (#646; parks; harbormaster) ✓ Howland, Gertrude (#2377; trees) ✓ Kantorski, Joseph (#2920; Greenwich 375th Anniversary Celebration) Sorrento, John (#2346; parks) ✓

Planning and Zoning Commissions

Albert, David (#2550) Caldwell, Joan (#2417; #2900 Xerox site controversy) ✓ Crawford, William (#985) Duge, Howard J. (#2192)

Fox, Diane (#2582) Francefort, Douglas (#2905) Frantz, Scott (#2896; The Arch Street Teen Center) Jenkins, William R. (#2064) Jinishian, Lucy M. (#990) Lutz, Georg (#2491) Magill, Bradford (#705) ✓ Nolan, Barbara (#2915; Community Centers, Inc.) Nunes, Edward V. (#2152) Shaffer [Barr], Jeanne A. (#2159) Upham, Charles H. (#2454, #2467)

Police Department

Borchetta, Charles (#2487; marine division) ✓ Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center) Gleason, John M. (#381, #383) ✓ Hirsch, James (Jimmy) Norton, Jr. (#2838; detective; Moxley case, dinner time bandit, et al.) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; early department) ✓ Mazza, Anthony P. (early department; published with Fisher, Everett, #2239) ✓ McGinty, Francis X. "X-Ray" (#2343) Moye, Eugene J., Sr. (#2508) ✓ Nolan, Barbara (#2915; Community Centers, Inc.) Real, Thomas (#2865) West, Chester W. (#2381; #2387; ambulance service) ✓

Public Health Nursing Service

Bellos, Sybil P. (#220)

Public Works Department

Aborn, Hermine Friedman (#2800; recycling) Badger, Mariette (#332; recycling) Baugh, Briggs (#2505; recycling) Donahue, Judith (#2921) Francefort, Douglas (#2905) Frantz, Scott (#2896; The Arch Street Teen Center) Hand, Leslie T. (#2175; published with Roxy von Hagen Hand) ✓ Johnson, Walter F. (#2205) ✓ Lomazzo, Arline (#2826; citizen advocate for safer sidewalks) Malkin, Peter (#2918; Department of Transportation) Sorrento, John (#2346) ✓

Registrars of Voters

Bloch, Peter K. (#2220)

Representative Town Meeting

Belknap, Margaret George George B. (#214) Bloch, Barbara Bemis (#854; District 12) Caldwell, Joan (#2900) Coan, Stuart (#2885; World War II – Before and After) Donahue, Judith (#2921) Emery, Marietta (#492 [audio only]) Finney, Florence (#997) Fleishman, Ernest (#2898) Frantz, Scott (#2896; The Arch Street Teen Center) Hand, Leslie T. (#2175; published with Roxy von Hagen Hand) ✓ Hand, Roxy von Hagen (#2457; published with Leslie T. Hand) ✓ Levine, Benjamin (#453) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate) Romero-Cantor, Armando (#2888; A Foothold in Two Nations) Silver, Wendy (#2944; Cos Cob Library) Varner, Albert F., Jr. (#926; moderator)

Selectmen

Bloch, Peter K. (#2220; disputed 1977 election) Breed, Rebecca S. (#2432) Clark, Leonard S. (#264) Cross, Florence (#2142) \checkmark Gisborne, C. Carleton (#372) Harris, Griffith (#2005) \checkmark Holbeck, Robert (#1085) \checkmark Jensen, Charles, Sr. (#411) Kantorski, Joseph (#2920; Greenwich 375th Anniversary Celebration) Klumpp, Otto (#802) Lewis, William B. (#2353) Margenot, John B., Jr. (#2638) Mazza, Frank (#2641) Peck, Bernice (#2074; re Wilbur Peck) Sims, Ruth L. (#2277) \checkmark Sullivan, John F. (#541) Vernon, Ruppert (#2356) Weicker, Lowell P., Jr. (#2108) Whelan, Leonard F. (#661)

Senior Center (formerly GREATS)

See also ELDERLY Diefenbach, Kari (#2654) Hitchcock, Rev. Martin (#2308; GREATS) Queenan, John W. (#2282) Smith, Esther H. (# 2315; GREATS)

Shellfish Commission

Jinishian, Lucy M. (#2739)

Social Services Department

Farrell, Jeanne (#2476) Femia, Carol (#2527) Hayton, Maggie (#396) ✓ Ward, Duira B. (#2465)

Tax Collector

See also **Finance Department** Branca, Joseph (#2560) Webb, Alfonso (#777)

Town Clerk

Klumpp, Otto (#802) Sullivan, Mary Clarke (#2135; Vital Statistics)

Town Courts

Lauricella, Thomas J. (#2470) Tierney, William L., Jr. (#2215)

<u>Town Hall</u>

Cross, Florence (#2141, old town hall) Sorrento, John (#2346; custodian) ✓

Transit District

Ford, F. Richards, and George Schiele (#2341)

<u>Unions</u>

Cooper, Lawrence (#2591; LIUNA)

Miscellaneous Town Government

Belknap, Margaret George George (#210, #214, local government Cross, Florence (#2141, various town employees; old Town Hall) Hunt, Jon (#2914; Justice of the Peace)

LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS

Belknap, Margaret George George G. (#210) Burnett, Jara (#2759) Carey, Judith (#2182) Dunson, Cheryl V. (#2711) Finch, William E., Jr. (#349; published with Phelps) ✓ Fox, Annette B. (#2724) Girdler, Barbara (#599) Gray, Grace (#211) Hand, Betsy Jordan (#2700) Hauptman, Betty (#2812) Jones, Olwen M. (Ollie); (#467) Osler, Dorothy K. (#759) Phelps, Kathleen B. (#889) ✓ Sims, Ruth L. (#307) ✓ Triolo, Audrey (#2133) Turner, Virginia (#784)

U.S.GOVERNMENT

Lally, Walter James (#2840; Greenwich Post office carrier)

POLITICS IN GENERAL

Bloch, Barbara Bemis (#854, District 12)
Bloch, Peter K. (#2220; contested 1977 town election)
Breed, Rebecca (#2432; First Selectman; published in *Mianus River Bridge Collapse*) ✓
Burns, J. William (#2440; Transportation Commission, State of CT, published in *Mianus River Bridge Collapse*) ✓
Bush, Prescott (#2478; state, county, local Republican politics)
Catanzaro, Daniel (#752; state campaigning) ✓
Chapman, Josephine (#246, #248, journalist)
Coan, Stuart (#2885; World War II – Before and After)
Dunson, Cheryl V. (#2711; state legislature, water rights)

Evaristo, Josephine (#581; Democratic Party) ✓ Everett, Alfred (#2035; McCarthvism) Fast, Howard (#2628; re FBI surveillance) Finch, William E., Jr. (#349, early political leaders) ✓ Fink, William (#2231; journalist) ✓ Finney, Florence (#995, state senator) Ford, F. Richards, III, and George Schiele (#2341; proposed mini-bus system) Gisborne, C. Carleton (#372; Republican Party) Johnson, Lucy Black (#2691; state and local) Josephy, Alvin, Jr., & Betty (#2665; Democratic Party) Loughlin, Eugene & Maryon (#651) Lewis, Eileen (#100; Communism; Socialism) Martin, Barbara (#2515; NOW) Mazza, Frank (#2641; Democratic Party) Morano, Albert P. (#2284, #2286; Republican congressman) ✓ O'Neill, William A. (#2423; CT Governor, published in *Mianus River Bridge Collapse*) ✓ Romeo, Sam (#2642; Republican Party) Rutgers, Alma (#2713; Democratic Party) Ryan, William, and Josephine L. Chapman (#516; journalists) 🗸 Sims, Ruth L. (#2277; contested election as First Selectman) Stevens, Lydia (#2658; state representative) Sullivan, John F. (#541; Democrat) Thiemann, Elizabeth (#551; re Agnes Morley; partially transcribed) Tierney, William L., Jr. (#2215) ✓ Vernon, Ruppert (#2356; contested 1977 election) Von Keyserling, Christopher (#2689 [audio only]; Cos Cob) Walsh, Helen Wilshire (#2237; Republican Party) ✓ Weicker, Lowell P. Jr. (#2108) Whelan, Frederick J., Sr. (#662; Democratic Party, state and local politics, Town government) White, F. Warren (#2309; voting procedures; machine politics) 🗸 Woodd-Cahusac, Rev. Sydney (#2630; Democratic Party) Wylie, Robert (#2956; Greenwich Democrats) Yudain, Bernard L. (#442; journalist) ✓ Young, Bill (#2368; journalist) ✓

HEALTH & MEDICINE

See also GOVERNMENT & POLITICS: Greenwich Town Government: GEMS; WEATHER & OTHER DISASTERS;

<u>Allance For Cancer Gene Therapy</u> Netter, Barbara (#2866)

American Red Cross

Ashwell, Carol (#2669; blood services staff) Borden, Velma (#484) George, Marjorie (#2250; Motor Corps, World War I) Howland, Gertrude (#2374) ✓ Jacob, Phyllis (#2318) Knapp, Katharine (#2428; local chapter staff) Ogden, Ross H., Sr. (#2705; local, state, national volunteer) Perlstein, Norma G. (#2841; volunteer) Porter, Winifred (#2042; volunteer) Robinson, Winston (#2647) Rockefeller, Nancy C. (#291) Roome, Gabrielle (#2104; Nurse's Aides) Schaffner, Pamela (#2803; Transportation Association of Greenwich [TAG]) Shaw, Milda W. (#2280; services to elderly) Smith, Esther H. (#963; World War II staff; local chapter executive director)

Greenwich Adult Day Care

Burnett, Jara (#2754) Burns, Carol (#2749)

Greenwich Emergency Medical Service (GEMS)

See also **HEALTH & MEDICINE**: **Miscellaneous**, for emergency services before GEMS Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center)

Greenwich Hospital

Andrews, Astrid (#2025; social services) Ayres, Payson B., M.D. (#722) Borden, Velma (#484) Brooks, Thirza (#2566; hospice program) Brown Brugo, Roberta (#2924; integrative medicine; Healing Touch Program) Brownell, Elizabeth Hyde (#1017, #2468) ✓ Chen, Robert (#2777; Greenwich Hospital Cardiovascular Team; cardiovascular care) Corvino, Frank A. (#2694; hospital in 2003; published as *Greenwich Hospital at 100*) ✓ Curcio, Louise (#433; nursing) DeGarmo, Joan (#2585; nursing school) DiAngelo, Salvatore (#2883; Red Barons, men volunteers) Ewing, Angelica (#2583; hospice program) Grady, John (#2653; Red Barons, men volunteers) Grady, Michele "Mimi" (#2853; Hospital Auxiliary; Thrift Shop; Gift Shop) Halat, Bruno (#2095; physical plant) Hauptman, Betty (#2812; Director of Development) Heffron, Mary (#2242, fund-raising) Kouns, Jane H. (#2433; auxiliary) Lockwood, Jane, M.D. (#2150) Macri, Antoinette Peters (#2782; nurse) Mazurek, Andrzej (#2922; Greenwich Hospital Red Barons; Healing Touch Program; A Polish-American's Immigrant Experience) Murray, John, M.D. (#2339) Read, Francis, M.D. (#2116) ✓ Reyman, Eleanor S. (#2657; Parkinson's Disease Support Group) Roome, Gabrielle (#2104; Women's Auxiliary; Nurse's Aides) Rose, Julia P. (#2106; #2173; nursing school) Sprong, Emilie (#903; nursing) Van Norden, Gloria (#2097; volunteers) Whittelsey, Harriet (#2608; nursing school)

Nathaniel Witherell Home

Andrews, Astrid (#2025) Chamberlain, Ruth (#752) Howland, Gertrude (#2374) ✓ Reale, Thomas (#2865) Rockefeller, Nancy C. (#291) ✓ Mazurek, Andrzej (#2922; A Polish-American's Immigrant Experience) White, Henrietta Walker (#2441-A [audio only])

Planned Parenthood

Jahncke, Cornelia (#2649) Mix, Jeannette Mills (#483)

<u>Other</u>

American Felt Company (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell; industrial injuries) ✓ Asch, Florence (#2571; Pegasus Therapeutic Riding Program) Ayres, Payson B. (#722; gynecology practice) Bassett, Horace H., DDS (#2080; dentistry [omitted from edited version]) ✓ Bellos, Sybil P. (#220; public health nursing) ✓ Bloch, Barbara B. (#2856; Oral History Project) Blum, Priscilla, and Jay Weinberg (#2464; Corporate Angel Network) Borchetta, Charles (#2487; Bruce Park par course, omitted from published version) Bronk, Elizabeth (#593; Greenwich Health Association) Brownell, Elizabeth (#1017; birth control; physicians' daughter) ✓ Caravella, Louis (#2424; polio) Caron, Ann F. (#2768; adolescent psychological development) Day, Lucy, and Cecile P. McCaull (#2725; Breast Cancer Alliance) DeLuca, Frank & Lucille (#2718; Kerr's Village Pharmacy) Dowling, Joseph (#2575; polio; wheelchair racing) Farricker, Elbée (#2720; The Mary Fund; hospices) Foote, Felicity (#2769; dyslexia) Hitchcock, Rev. Martin (#2308; elderly health) Jahncke, Cornelia (#2649; birth control) Jensen, Charles W., Jr., DDS (#2675) Kendall, Judith (#2495; emergency services) Lewis, Eileen (#100; training as a nurse) Mix, Jeannette Mills (#483; birth control) Porricelli, Jerry, Sr. (#2371; grocery store sanitation) ✓ Pray, Malcolm Sheldon, Jr. (#2767; dyslexia) Relihan, Helen T. (#2304; school nursing) ✓ Rockefeller, Nancy Carnegie (#291; birth control) ✓ Sampson, Meredith (#2945; wildlife in climate change) Silver, Kyle (#2899; Arch Street Teen Center) Spann, Alexandra Clarke (#526; family practice) ✓ West, Chester W. (#2381; 2387; emergency services) ✓

HISTORY

Greenwich Library Oral History Project

Barragan, Marigle Alarcon-Vargas (#2906) Bloch, Barbara Bemis (#856; founder; chairman) Jones, Olwen M. "Ollie" (#467; early volunteer; chairman) Kavee, Donna H. (#2154) McNamara, Catherine (#2807; chairman) Phillips, Marian (#2916; Oral History - The Early Years)

Historical Society of the Town of Greenwich

Finch, William E., Jr. (#344; art at Bush-Holley House; Historical Society) ✓ Phillips, Marian (#2916; Oral History - The Early Years) Seton, Anya (#521; Bush-Holley legends) Tritschler, Susan (#2541) Vanderbilt, Claire (#2577) Young, Anne (#2778; archivist; future of HSTG; McCutcheon house)

Other History

Arnold, Robert M. (#2820; of town social services) Bernard, Nancy S. (#2735; Archaeology Associates of Greenwich) Brown, Betty Cobbs (#2672 [audio only]; 608 Lake Avenue, Ernest Thompson Seton home) Brush, Katherine (#240; Strickland Road) Chapman, Josephine L. (#245, #246, #248; various) Clark, Leonard S. (#262; Cos Cob background) Conboy, Josephine B. (#2831; Town Archives Preservation Project; Greenwich **Preservation Trust**) Enright, Eleanor (#315; Convers Farm) Ferris, Edgar M., and Mildred Wescott (#2291; J. Ferris house) Finch, Louise (#2293; re historic building tour book) Finch, William E., Jr. (#342; important people in town history, recorded speech) Finch, William E., Jr. (#346; Battle of Strickland Plain, Indians of Cos Cob) Finch, William E., Jr. (#347; historic houses; WGCH radio interview) Finch, William E., Jr. (#349, #671, #672; Walsh brothers and John Maher) ✓ Finch, William E., Jr. (#350; Revolutionary period, lecture to OHP, slides accompanying) Finch, William E., Jr. (#669 [audio only]; historic houses) Finch, William E., Jr. (#673; Banksville, Banksville/Stanwich churches, published with Doris Finch Watson) Finch, William E., Jr. (#2184; Christ Church history) Finch, William E., Jr. (#2338; Christ Church history) Gordon, Ilse (#2712; artists in town) Jenkins, Rhoda, and Catherine Elizabeth Stanton (#2349; feminism; Elizabeth Cady Stanton, and others) Jenkins-Sahlin, Coline (#2587; feminism; Elizabeth Cady Stanton) Kantorski, Joseph (#2920; Greenwich 375th Anniversary Celebration) Kerr, Ian (#2622; Greenwich millennium celebration; sundial) Krumeich, Marie (#561; Tercentenary celebration) Lawson, S. Chapin (#2664; Riverside) Lee, Robert A. (#459; early 20th century central Greenwich) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; land ownership in Riverside

Page 60 of 98

Lounsbury, Harry M. (#641; Strickland Road, Cos Cob) Lowell, Katherine L. S. (#658; Strickland Road, Cos Cob) Lowitz, Anson (#466; Bush-Holley House) MacKenzie, Roderick (#2430; re Fairfield, CT) Mead, Helene V. (#859; Mead family) Nicholson, Marion (#487, #488, #490, #1025; overall background) Owen, Gladys H. R. (#2445, historical anecdotes; #2745, Husted family and farm; #2745, Independence Day celebration) Parker, Challen R. (#807 [audio only]; central Greenwich) Pollock, Julie Grey (#2827; Thomas Lyon house and family) Powers, Joseph (#2650; Old Greenwich Yacht Club) Prince James Edward Stuart (#2229; see Stuart in this grouping) Reynolds, Whitman Mead (#2030; Mead farm) Seton, Anya (#521; Bush-Holley House) Standard, Nancy (#2784; antique clothes collection) Spann, Alexandra Clarke (#526; historic anecdotes, omitted from edited version) Stuart, Prince Charles Edward (#2229, Jacobite Association) Tabell, Margaret (#2456; land ownership, Riverside) Walker, Mary (#2462; President George H. W. Bush) Warburg, Joan M. (#2584; town's 350th celebration, 1990) Watson, Doris Finch (#2240; Banksville background, published with William E. Finch, Jr., # 673) ✓ Willis, Bette (#2690; Great Captain's Island)

Other Oral History organizations

Feldman, Harriet (#2723; Memory Lane Productions) Starr, Mary Belle (#2401; Oral History Association)

HOLIDAYS

<u>Christmas</u>

Geraghty, Frances Chmielowiec (#603) ♥ Grant, Arthur E. (#2000) ♥ Zeranski, Joseph (#2354; Christmas Bird Count) ♥

<u>Halloween</u>

Nicholson, Frank (#611) ✓

Independence Day

Nicholson, Frank (#611) ✓ Owens, Gladys H. R. (#2745, at Husted farm) White, F. Warren (2309) ✓

HOTELS & RESTAURANTS

Bird, Rachel (#2553; Edgewood Inn) Casey, Joseph (#2509; Pickwick Arms Hotel) Christopherson, Mary Comnes (#303; Maples Hotel) Clark, Walter (#2589; Old Greenwich hotels) Drake, Charles & Katherine (#1070; Walden Inn, Riverside) Gotch, John (#2369; bean wagons) Gross, Arthur (#2364; Clam Box Restaurant, published with Porricelli, Jerry, Sr.) ✓ Happy, Doris (#2473; Old Greenwich hotels) Lowell, Katherine L. S. (#658; Cos Cob) Margenot, Mary Manero (#2320; Manero's Restaurant) Milonas, Mary (#2359; Greek restaurants) Minchin, Henry C. (#1000; Pickwick Arms Hotel) Newman, Genevieve (#2161; Newman Hotel) Rassu, Ralph (#2436; Ideal Lunch; Island Beach concession) Smith, Nancy Keck (#2612; The Homestead Inn) Sprague, William & Frances (#2015; Maples Hotel) Steegmuller, Francis (#2211; Held House) Zuber, Jean (#708; Kent House)

ISLANDS

See also CONSERVATION, RIVERS, & NATURAL RESOURCES; PARKS

Baker, Sue Hout (#2845; Calf Island Conservancy) Bloomer, Franklin (#2751; Calf Island) Borchetta, Charles (#2487; various islands) Barrett, John (#2157; islands off Belle Haven) Chard, Clarence (#250) Dougherty, Hugh (#646; islands off Byram Shore) Erdmann, William (#366; Island Beach ferry) Frederick, Jeanne M. (#832; islands off Byram Shore) Friend, Elise (#683; islands off Byram Shore) Kristoff, Alberta (#2428; Shell Island; published with Leinbach) ✓ Leinbach, Mary Eimer (#2485; Shell Island; published with Kristoff) ✓ Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; Murderer's Island) ✓ Martin, Winifred P. (#2270; Gardner's Island) Napper, Alver W., Sr. (#637, Shore Island/Lee Haven Beach Club) ✓ Phillips, John (#2804; Pilot Rock Island) Pickett, Emma Knapp (#275; Knapp Island) Pinkert, Harriet L. (#2683 [audio only]; Island Beach) Rassu, Ralph (#2436; Island Beach concession) Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront) Willis, Bette (#2690; Great Captain's Island history) Wright, William B., Sr. (#2269; Gardner's Island)

JOURNALISM

Baggott, Craig W. (#2471; journalist, Hartford Current; published in Mianus River Bridge Collapse) ✓ Becker, John T. (#2668; WGCH radio station) Breed, Rebecca (#2432; re Mianus River Bridge collapse) ✓ Button, Robert (#2530; Cablevision) Caldwell, Joan (#2417; re Xerox site controversy) ✓ Chapman, Josephine L. (#516; journalist; interviewed with William Ryan) ✓ Fink, William (#2231) ✓ Gotch, John (#2369; photography) Hanson, Maury (#2556; The Nutmegger) Hartley, Wakeman (#388, Village Gazette) Kendall, Judith (#2495; freelance columnist) Nickerson, Mary Jane (#2252; early radio) Palmer, Howard (#505, #508; Greenwich Press) ✓ Pirro, Charles (#987; Greenwich Time) ✓ Price, Earl (#652; early radio; WGCH radio station) Primo, Albert (#2911; Radio Stations: KDKA, Pittsburgh; KYW, Philadelphia; TV: Evewitness News; Newspapers: The Village Gazette, Old Greenwich) Ryan, William (#516; journalist; interviewed with Josephine L. Chapman) ✓ Stevens, George Cooke (#2048; WGCH radio station) ✓ Stevens, Lydia (#2658, WGCH radio station) Thompson, Jim (#2648; WGCH radio station) West, Chester W. (#2381, #2387; re Fire Department activities) Wright, Rev. Dr. Heather Parkinson (#2842; Greenwich Chaplaincy Services)

Young, Bill (#2778; Greenwich Time) ♥ Yudain, Bernard L. (#442; Greenwich Time) ♥

LIBRARIES & MUSEUMS

Greenwich Library and its branches

Archibald, Athalie (#2235; Byram Shubert) Ashforth, Henry (#2633; Greenwich Library addition) Baker, Louis (#2435; Friends of Greenwich Library) Berg, Peter (#2771; Greenwich Library Trustees; Cos Cob Library construction) Burger, Fay Van Riper (#2864) Brouwer, Irene (#2416; Friends of Greenwich Library) Christensen, R. Marshall (#2219; Byram Shubert Library architect) Campbell, Wayne T. (#2889; library staff – films) Coan, Stuart (#2885; World War II – Before and After) Cole, Marie (#266; Greenwich, Byram, Cos Cob libraries, published with Lushington) ✓ Darst, Diane W. (#2635; Friends of Greenwich Library) Davies, Betty (#2917; Early Years at Christ Church) Darst, Diane W. (#2643; Greenwich, Cos Cob construction) Duffy, Esther (#2605; music librarian, Greenwich Library; Friends concerts; Clementine Peterson) Donohue, Audrey F. (#2828; Clementine Lockwood Peterson) Donohue, Audrey F., and Mark Gaston (#2829; Clementine Lockwood Peterson) Edlin, Katherine (#2568; Greenwich Library) Everett, Alfred E. (#2035; Greenwich Library) Figueroa, Carolina (#2921; Moving to Greenwich from Colombia) Fleishman, Ernest (#2898; An Advocate for Change in Greenwich Public Schools) Fox, Karen W. (#2869; The Peterson Bequest) Frederick, Jeanne M. (#2740; early libraries in Byram; Byram Shubert Library) French, Margaret (#1055, #2409; Friends of Greenwich Library) Gaston, Mark (#2849; Clementine Lockwood Peterson) Gaud, Eleanor (#2391; Friends of Greenwich Library) Herman, Sandra R. "Sandy" (#2882; Flinn Gallery) Holden, Judith M. (#2862) Hunter, Leslie Williams (#2892; library staff) Jenkins, Laura (#2307; Friends of Greenwich Library, fund-raising for) ✓ LeBien, Mary Ellen (#2858; Clementine Lockwood Peterson's bequest to Greenwich Library) Lushington, Nolan (#266; Greenwich Library, published with Marie Cole) 🗸

Mahoney, Carol A. (#2887; library director)
Milonas, Mary (#2359; Greenwich Library and others)
Nicholson, Marion (#486; Greenwich Library) ✓
Ogden, Jean (#2002, #2396; Friends of Greenwich Library lending art collection)
Ormerod-Glynn, Barbara (#2850; Greenwich Library response to the March 2010 and the two 2011 storms)
Phillips, Marian (#2916; Oral History - The Early Years)
Reed, Margaret (#2791; Greenwich Library on Greenwich Avenue, and current library)
Robinson, Wesley (#2685; Greenwich Library)
Romero-Cantor (#2888; A Foothold in Two Nations)
Silver, Wendy (#2944; Cos Cob Library)
White, Carl J. (#2843; library response to March, 2010, storm)

Perrot Memorial Library

Altznauer, Nancy Garapick (#2731; volunteering; addition) Black, Edythe F. (#2167; librarian) Greene, Louisa S. (#2730; fund-raising; addition) Johnson, Pyke, Jr. (#2645) McClelland, Kate (#2559; storytelling at; Japanese book collection) Moger, Daniel W. Jr. (#2738; addition) Phillips, Marian (#2802; Japanese storytelling at) Swan, James (#2732; addition) Watt, Karen (#2733; addition; architect, Mark Thompson)

Museums

The Bruce Museum, 100 Years of Change – An Oral History Clark, John B. (#2528; Bruce Museum director) ✓ Hack, Renée (#2833; miniature room exhibits at Bruce Museum) Hirshhorn, Olga Zatorsky (#980; Hirshhorn Museum and Sculpture Garden, Washington, DC) Howes, Paul Griswold (#2197; Bruce Museum director) ✓ ✓ Mortimer, Harry S. (#680; re first Bruce Museum director, Edward F. Bigelow) ✓ ✓ Owen, Gladys H. R. (#2445, #2745; Bruce Museum) Owen, Raymond M., Jr. (#2504; Bruce Museum director) ✓ Reddin, Elaine (#2627; Maritime Aquarium, Norwalk) Rees, Homer McK. (#2737; Bruce Museum interim director) ✓ Rukeyser, Leah (#2729; Bruce Museum) Sturges, Hollister (#2688; Bruce Museum director) ✓

MERCHANTS & LOCAL BUSINESSES

See also CORPORATIONS

Anderson, Edward (#2458; Greenwich Drug Store) Augustin, John (#2518; farm and farm stand, King Street) Belmont, Anthony (#335; feed company, North Mianus) 🗸 Bennett, Wyatt (#2848; Bennett Jewelers, Old Greenwich) Bertolf, Gustave J., Sr. and Jr. (#2824; lobstermen) Betteridge, Albert "Terry" E. (#2875; Betteridge Jewelers) Bocchino, Thomas (#2567; shoe repair, Byram) Borchetta, Charles (#2487; changes in Post Road businesses; omitted from published version) Brander, Jean K. (#2671; Bon Ton Fish Market) Bridge, Samuel F., Jr. (#2546; Bridge's Nursery and Greenhouses) Bruno, August (#1060; various saloons) Cantavero, Ada (#824; Riverside Variety Shop [Ada's], published with Simpkins) ✓ Caravella, Louis (#2424; stationery store and others, Cos Cob) Carpentieri, Frank, Sr. (#2819; Garden Catering Restaurant) Cassell, Warren (#2570; Just Books) Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366; Old Greenwich Shoe Repair) ✓ Christopherson, Mary Comnes (#303; Maple Laundry, Greenwich) Clark, James J. (#2260; Clark's Garage, Glenville) Clark, Leonard S. (#260; Drinkwater Sons, Inc.) Constante, Maria Emperatriz "Empy" (#2886; Empy's Day Spa Cuff, William (#2361; Cuff's Stationery store, Old Greenwich) Cunningham, Evan (#2500; Grover C. Cunningham Auto Body Shop, Inc., Byram) DeGarmo, Joan Askew (#2602, Just Books) D'Elia, Chancy (#9651 clothing, Greenwich) ✓ DeLuca, Frank & Lucille (#2718; Kerr's Village Pharmacy) Dumas, Jerry (#2859) Drieghe, Maria (#2872; The Rummage Room) Eskowetz, Jennie Weiss (#322; Favorite Shoe Store, Greenwich) ✓ Feldman, Harriet (#2723; Memory Lane Productions) Ferraro, Tom, Jr., and Linda Muccio (#2809; Tom's Driving School) Ficker, Mary (#359; Old Greenwich) Finney, James A., Sr. (#351; Suburban Awnings; various mills, Mianus) Foote, Felicity (#2769; Greenwich Ballet Studio) Garrett, Diane (#2756; Diane's Bookstore)

Gaudio, Joseph A. (#2673; Old Greenwich) Gotch, John (#2369; various, Byram) Grady, Michelle "Mimi" (#2835; Greenwich Hospital Thrift Shop) Guerrieri, Michael (#2442; Putnam Barber Shop, Greenwich) Hone, Lynne Williams (#2942; Ada's) Hirshhorn, Olga Zatorsky (#980; Services Unlimited [employment agency]) Johnson, Pyke, Jr. (#26451 The Bookstore, Old Greenwich) Jouret, May J. (#421; Jouret's Saloon) Knapp, J. Edward (#2380; various; Fred D. Knapp and Son Funeral Home) Lally, Thomas C. (#267; various central Greenwich) Latella, Domenick (#2145; fruit and vegetable peddler) Lawton, Jennifer (#2762; Just Books Too; Arcadia Coffee Company) Lee, Leslie Simmons (#2910; Simmons Mattress) Levine, Jennie Marks (#451; Marks Brothers, Greenwich) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; various, Riverside) ✓ MacKay, James M. (#2794; various) Margenot, Mary Manero (#2320; various, Steamboat Road) ✓ Martin, Louis (#757 [audio only]; Greenwich Avenue businesses; owner, men's clothing store) McArdle, James B., Jr. (#2861; McArdle's Florist and Garden Center) McArdle, James B., III (#2873; McArdle's Florist and Garden Center) McGeorge, Margaret (#1013; McGeorge Pet Store, Greenwich) Mendive, Jackie (#2938; Empenadas on the Go; launching a business) Mecca, Nancy (#2923; Favorite Shoe Store, Quinn's Market, Rogers Dept. Store; My Families in Greenwich) Minchin, Henry (#1000; Minchin Buick, Greenwich) ✓ Nado, Harry (#698, #2085; Chamber of Commerce) Neville, John (#712; Spee-Dee Used Furniture) Orlovitz, Molly (#2078; Molly's Stationery, Glenville) Peabody, David F. (#2521; Peabody's Garage, Greenwich) Pincus, Irving (#2637; Marks Brothers, Greenwich) Pinkert, Harriet L. (#2683[audio only]; Greenwich Avenue) Porricelli, Gennaro "Jerry, Sr." (#2371; Food Mart, Gristede's; published with Arthur Gross) 🗸 Prav, Malcolm Sheldon, Jr. (#2767; Pray Motors, Inc., et al.) Quinlan, Helen Haggerty (#975; Horseneck Tavern) ✓ Quinn, Hugh (#2744; Quinn's Market) Quinn, Mary Ellen (#2825; Quinn's Liquor Store) Resnick, Dr. David (#2684; parents' grocery, Fourth Ward)

Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493; Cohen Brothers and other Greenwich) Sandlock, Stanley "Sandy" (#2565; Sterling Watts/Feinsod Hardware Store, Old Greenwich) Scarpelli, Patricia (#2760; Cos Cob sausage store) Schachter, Edward (#2634; Richard's, Greenwich Avenue) Sciarrillo, Tony (#2714; Chickahominy barber shop) Sorrento, John (#2346; various, including Cohen Brothers) ✓ Squire, Emmadean (#2621; The Commission Mart) Steinberg, Sadye Cohen (#531; Cohen Brothers) Stuttig, Charles F., Jr. (#2501; Stuttig's Locksmith, Greenwich) Strain, William H.N. (#2860; Round Hill Store and Gas Station) Taylor, Alex (#546; Taylor block, Cos Cob) Tripodi, Josephine (#2934; Bologna Furrier on Greenwich Avenue; tailor) Tripodi, Rick (#2936; growing up above family store on Greenwich Avene) Tunick, David (#2179) Watson, Doris Finch (#2240; general store, Banksville) Webb, Alfonso & Charlotte (#777; Webb's Market, Greenwich) White, F. Warren (#2309; Greenwich Avenue) ✓

Yardis, Mickey (#2626; Threads 'n' Treads)

PARKS

See also CONSERVATION, RIVERS, & NATURAL RESOURCES; ESTATES; ISLANDS

Baker, Sue Hout (#2845; Greenwich Point Conservancy [Innes Arden House]) Beebe, Lisa (#2822; Garden Education Center at Montgomery Pinetum) *Conservation in Greenwich*, anthology, ed., Jane Bentley ✓ Dietrich, Joseph (#202; Parks and Trees Department) Dougherty, Hugh (#646; Tod's Point [Greenwich Point] beach) Duff, Jane (#1080; Greenwich Garden Center at Montgomery Pinetum) ✓ Erdmann, William (#366; Island Beach ferry) ✓ French, Anne Hubbell, and R. Eugene Curry (#2410; Mianus River Gorge Preserve; The Nature Conservancy) Griswold, Louise C. (#2655; Treetops estate) Hankins, Martha (#2823; childhood at Tod's Point) Kerr, Ian (#2622; Millennial celebration; sundial, Bruce Park) Leydon, Brenden P. (#2667; Greenwich Point beach access lawsuit) Lucas, Walter H. (#471, Tod's Point [Greenwich Point]) Macri, Antoinette Peters (#2782; Byram Park; father, beach concessionaire) McWilliams, Florence (#601 [audio only]; Binney Park) Mecca, Nancy (#2923; Greenwich Point, Island Beach; My Families in Greenwich) Milliken, Phoebe (#2363; Byram River Gorge Preserve) Phillips, Marian (#2837; Binney Park, commercials filmed at) Pietrzak, Jean (#2789; Byram Beach concession) Pinkert, Harriet L. (#2683 [audio only]; Island Beach) Ritman, James (#2931; 9/11 Memorial in Cos Cob Park) Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront) Sampson, Meredith (#2945; Tod's Point [beach] wildlife, climate change) Scafidi, Damaris Dargay (#2806; Binney Park neighborhood) *Tod's Point* (anthology, ed., Barbara H. Ornstein) ✓ Tripodi, Josephine (#2934; Family store on Greenwich Avenue; Island Beach) Tripodi, Rick (#2936; growing up above family store; Island Beach) Upham, Charles H. (#2454, #2467) Willis, Bette (#2690; Great Captain's Island, 19th century) Zeranski, Joseph (#2354) ✓

PEOPLE & FAMILIES

Anselmo, Reynold "René" Hull, Mary (#2625)

Baldwin, Roger

Clark, Leonard S. (#264) Sherman, William H. (#2056)

Barney, Nora Stanton

Barney, John (#205; published with Rhoda Jenkins) ✓ Jenkins, Rhoda B. (#207)

Benedict, Commodore Elias C.

Bassett, Horace H., DDS (#2080) Hubbard, Henry D. ✓ (#772)

Bigelow, Dr. Edward F., and daughter, Nellie Bigelow

Howes, Paul G. (#2197) ✓ Mahoney, Mary Reilly (#2186) Mortimer, Harry S. (#680)

Bush family

Bush, Prescott Sheldon, Jr. (#2478; re local, state Republican politics) Hart-Rogers, Margaret (#2783; babysitting for family) Walker, Mary (#2462; re George H. W. Bush)

Converse family

See also ESTATES: Conyers Farm (Converse estate) Drew, William B. (#2524) Enright, Eleanor (#315) ✓ Mix, Jeannette Mills Mix (#481; E. C. Converse letter quoted) ✓

Eimer family

Kristoff, Alberta (#2428) Leinbach, Mary (#2485)

Fast, Howard Melvin

Fast, Howard Melvin (#2628; re politics, writing)

Ferris family

Ferris, Dorothy (#2296) Ferris, Edgar, and Mildred Ferris Wescott (#2291; Ferris farm) Ferris, George Dunbar (#2511) Pickett, Emma Knapp (#275)

Fisher family

Faulkner, Joan Fisher (#2297) Fisher, Agnew (#2279) Fisher, Bennett (#2275) Fisher, Everett (#2238) McStocker, Roger (#2311) Sabine Farm (anthology, ed., Eloise Mills) ✓ Schwadron, Gladys B. (#2302) Strong, Hazel B. (#2294)

Gimbel family

Gimbel, Barbara P. (#2316) *The Gimbel Family at Chieftans* (anthology, ed., Eloise Mills) ✓ Schovel, William H. (#2335) Stevenson, Marion H. (#2327) Vanderwerken, Marion (#2337)

Gray, George

Durrell, Ernestine (#2743) Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich) Gray, George, and Raymond Malone (# 2421) ✓ Malone, Raymond (#2610)

<u>Hartley, Wake</u>

Primo, Albert. (#2911)

<u>Henson, Jim</u>

Nelson, John E. (#2890; The Twachtman House)

<u>Hull, Mary</u>

Malkin, Peter (#2918; Conservation and Preservation)

<u>Hurlbutt, Isabelle</u>

Duffy, Esther (#2605) Reed, Margaret (#2791)

<u>Husted family</u> Owen, Gladys H. R. (#2445, #2745)

Hvolbeck family

Hvolbeck, Charles J. (#2110) MacKay, James (#2794; Hvolbeck family and farm)

Ives, Phillip

Ives, Phillip (#413; re Saint Barnabas)

Jenkins, Rhoda Barney Guillet, Lucy (#2913)

<u>Keleshian, Harry</u> Malkin, Peter (#2918; Conservation and Preservation)

<u>Kitchel, Helen</u> Primo, Albert. (#2911)

Lauder family

See also **Tunney, Gene** Tunney, Jonathan R. "Jay" (#2797; re his mother, Polly Lauder Tunney)

Lewis, Alfred Baker and Eileen O'Connor

Lewis, Eileen O'Connor (#100; re UN Controversy) Steadwell, Gertrude (#2451; re civil rights)

Lockwood family Lockwood, Jane, MD (#2150)

Luce, Clare Boothe

Morano, Albert P. (#2286) ♥ Walsh, Helen Wilshire (#556) ♥

Lyon, John, family

See also **ESTATES: Lyon Farm condos** Lyon, Sherrill Ellsworth (#2555; also re farm)

Lyon, Thomas, family

Conboy, Josephine B. (#2851; Greenwich Preservation Trust; work on Thomas Lyon house) Pollock, Julie Grey (#2827; re Thomas Lyon family and house)

Maher, John

Finch, William E., Jr. (#349, #671, #672) Lee, Robert A. (#459)

Malone, Raymond

Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich) Gray, George, and Raymond Malone (# 2421) ✓ Malone, Raymond (#2610)

Marks (Amasa) family, Riverside

Gibson, Elizabeth Mold (#2044) Gisborne, F. Reginald, Jr. (#742) ✓ Lewis, Edwin & Margaret (#2248) Palmer, S. Pierson (#1090) Palmer, W. Harold (#501) Parker, Bertha Wilmot (#2217)

Marks family

Levine, Jennie Marks (#451) Marks, Judge Leah Ruth (#2765) Pincus, Irving M. (#2637; Marks Brothers Store)

Mead family

Mead, Helene V. (#859) Reynolds, Whitman Mead (#2030)

<u>Miller, Henrietta</u> Smith, Edna Harris (#2398)

<u>Morley, Agnes, Selectman</u> Cross, Florence (#2141) Thiemann, Elizabeth [#551; partially transcribed]

Moye, Eugene J., Sr.

Moye, Eugene J., Sr. (#2508) Moye, Jeanette Belanger "Rusty" (#2844)

O'Neil Family

Merck, Josie (#2933; O'Neil Amphitheater)

Palmer family Palmer, W. Harold (#501)

Peck, Wilbur, First Selectman Peck, Bernice R. (#2074)

Pelli, Cesar Darst, Diane W. (#2643)

Peterson, Clementine Lockwood

Burger, Fay (#2864) Donohue, Audrey (#2828) Donohue, Audrey, and Mark Gaston (#2829) Duffy, Esther (#2605) Gaston, Mark (#2849) Hart-Rogers, Margaret (#2783; also re son, Jay Peterson) Holden, Judith M. (#2862) LeBien, Mary Ellen (#2858)

Pomerance, Ralph

Guillet, Lucy (#2913)

Prescott, Marjorie Wiggin

DeGarmo, Joan Askew (#2585)

Rockefeller family

Rafferty, Brendan G. (#1030) Rockefeller, Godfrey (#606, #2040) Rockefeller, J. Stillman (#2523) Rockefeller, Nancy Carnegie (#291)

Seton, Ernest Thompson, and family

Baldwin, Roger – no record of this interview Brown, Betty Cobbs (#2672 [audio only]; Grace Gallatin Seton) Clark, Leonard (#263; Seton's Indians) Finch, William E., Jr. (#347, Anya Seton) Geraghty, Frances Chmielowiec (#603; Seton family; Lake Avenue) Hoisington, Edith N. (#2261; Seton estates) Lowell, Katherine L. S. (#658; Anya Seton; Seton's Indians)

Simmons and Family

Lee, Leslie Simmons (#2910)

Stanton, Elizabeth Cady

Jenkins, Rhoda (#2349) Jenkins-Sahlin, Coline (#2587)

Stuart, Charles Edward

Stuart, Charles Edward (#2229; pretender to British throne)

Sullivan, Mary Guillet, Lucy (#2913)

Thompson, Mark

Baker, Sue Hout (#2845; Innes Arden Cottage, Tod's Point) Swan, James (#2732; Perrot Memorial Library, architect of) Watt, Karen B. (#2733; Perrot Memorial Library, architect of)

Tod, J. Kennedy, and family

Larsen, Arne (#441) Lynch, Anthony Vincent (#278) *Tod's Point* − *An Oral History* (anthology, ed., Barbara H. Ornstein) ✓

Tunick family

Tunick, Barbara (#2788) Tunick, David (#2179)

Tunney, Gene

Havemeyer Park – An Oral History (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) Tunney, Jonathan R. "Jay" (#2797; re his parents)

Twachtman family

Agnew, Dorothy Hamilton Sowers (#2774) Nelson, John E. (#2890; The Twachtman House)

Walsh, Robert and James F.

Finch, William E., Jr. (#349, #671, #672) Walsh, Helen Wilshire (#556)

Weicker, Lowell

(re: term as First Selectman) Harris, Griffith E. (#2006; re election) Holbeck, Robert H. (#1085)

<u>Weir, Aldan J.</u> Nelson, John E. (#2890; The Twachtman House)

<u>Other</u>

See also GOVERNMENT & POLITICS Agnew, Dorothy Hamilton Sowers (#2774; Agnew family) Caravella, Lou (#2424) *The Hands on Greenwich* (Leslie T. & Roxy von Hagen) ✓ Nelson, John E. (#2890; The Twachtman House) Oarr, Sara Jane (#2447) Pray, Malcolm Sheldon, Jr. (#2767) Quinn, Mary Ellen (#2825; Quinn and Johann families; *see also* Quinn, Hugh) Romeo, Sam (#2642) Tatge, Gretchen Everbach (#2836; re photographing well-known individuals) Warburg, Joan M. (#2584; town's 350th anniversary)

PROHIBITION & ALCOHOL

Andrews, Astrid (#2025; alcoholism) Boles, Ambrose (#2350) Bolling, Raynal C., Jr. (#2438; rum-running) ✓ Bruno, August (#1060; saloon) Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366; bootlegging) ✓ Drake, Charles (#1070; bootlegging; published with Harcourt and Hipkins) ✓ Gleason, John M. (#381; bootlegging) ✓ Gotch, John (#2653; rum-running) Lucas, Walter H., and Joseph Sanger (#472; illegal alcohol) Lynch, Anthony Vincent (#278; rum-running) Murphy, John R. (#2512; bootlegging) Nicholson, Frank (#611; speakeasies) ✓ Parker, Challen R. (#807 [audio only]; bootlegging) Quinlan, Helen (#975; speakeasies) ✓ Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront) Sorrento, John (#2346; bootlegging) ✓ Tierney, William L., Jr. (#2215; bootlegging) ✓

QUARRIES

See also **ESTATES**: Quarry Farm)

Conway, Howard E. (#792, #793) Hubbard, Henry (#772) Real, Thomas (#2865) Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront) Schmidt, Fredrick (#218) Triggs, John (#568) ✓

REAL ESTATE & LAND DEVELOPMENT

See also ESTATES; WARS: World War II Veterans' Housing

Albert, David (#2550; Greenwich Japanese School) Altznauer, Nancy Garapick (#2731; Perrot Memorial Library addition) *American Felt Company* (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) ✓ Ashforth, Henry A. Jr. (#2632, local; #2633, Greenwich Library addition) Ashwell, Thomas B. (#2547; Havemeyer Park) ✓ Bartol, Norma (#2708; back country development and riding trails) Bentley, Peter (#2393; real estate map; anti-Semitism) Berg, Peter (#2771; Cos Cob Library construction) Bloch, Barbara Bemis (#854; District 12) ✓ Boles, Ambrose (#2350) Borchetta, Charles (#2487; Post Road; Steamboat Road) ✓ Caldwell, Joan (#2417; Xerox site controversy) Carrott, John (#914; Belle Haven) Chimblo, Joseph (#2226; contractor) Christ-Janer, Victor (#2176; YWCA) Christensen, R. Marshall (#2219; Byram-Shubert Library) Collins, Arthur (#2538; Lyon Farm) Collins, Joan M. (#2747; Lyon Farm) Crichton, William (#2265; central Greenwich) Darst, Diane W. (#2643; Greenwich Library addition; Cos Cob Library construction) deCholnoky, Ingrid (#2548; Lyon Farm) Devaul, Willard (#300; back country development) Duge, Howard J. (#2192; contractor; Planning and Zoning) Duncan, Perry (#703; Bailiwick development) Edgar, William J. (#2070; Greenwich High School, Hillside Road) Favor, Katie (#678; Glenville) ✓ Finney, Florence (#997; veterans' housing) Fox, Diane (#2582; Planning and Zoning) Freedman, Jennifer (#2831; backcountry development and riding trails) Greene, Louisa S. (#2730; Perrot Memorial Library addition) Griswold, John S. (#2596; Mead's Point) Hall, Lillian (#688) Havemeyer Park, An Oral History (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) Horne, Virginia (#2540; Lyon Farm) Ives, Phillip (#413; Saint Barnabas Church) Jenkins, William R. (#2064; Planning and Zoning) Lester, Lydia (#337; Field Point) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; in Riverside) Lyon, Sherrill Ellsworth (#2555; Lyon property) Magill, Bradford (#705; Planning and Zoning) Margenot, Mary Manero (#2320) ✓ Mills, Wilbur N., Jr. (#2564; Lyon Farm) Mitchell, Abner (#891) Moger, Daniel W., Jr. (#2738; Perrot Memorial Library addition) Murray, George (#2677; UST Inc. construction) Nunes, Edward V. (#2152; Planning and Zoning) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate)

Phillips, John (#2804; Harbor Point, Riverside) Pomerance, Ralph (#374; Temple Sholom) Porricelli, Gerald J. "Jerry, Jr." (#2549; Havemeyer Park Association) ✓ Rafferty, Brendan G. (#1030; Rockefeller estates) Rockefeller, Godfrey (#606, #2040) Schacter, Ralph (#2404; The Mill) ✓ Schwartz, Seymour (#946) Schoeller, Marcia (#2561; Lyon Farm) Shaffer [Barr], Jeanne A. (#2159; Planning and Zoning) Swan, James (#2732; Perrot Memorial Library addition) Tabell, Margaret (#2456; in eastern Greenwich) Upham, Charles H. (#2454, #2467; conservation concerns) Watt, Karen (#2733; Perrot Memorial Library addition) Williams, Elizabeth C. (#2224) Williams, Sophie (#2352; multiple listing service)

Religion & Religious Institutions

Bethel AME

Bausal, Alberta E. (#2449) Brown, Louise Van Dyke (#2187) ✓ Smith, Edna Harris (#2398)

Christ Church

Agnew, Dorothea Hamilton Sowers (#2774; Seabury House) Borden, Velma (#484) Cartun, Darby (#2026) Davies, Betty (#2917; Early Years at Christ Church) Everett, Alfred E. (#2035) Finch, William E., Jr. (#2184, #2338) Hoggson, Wallace (#2180) Parker, Frank III (#2929) Taylor (Abell), Nan Scallon (#2177; Saint John's Chapel) White, Gertrude (#729) Williams, Dan (#2373; Camp Seabury) Woodd-Cahusac, Rev. Sydney (#2630)

Diamond Hill Methodist

Clark, Charles A. (#255, #257) ✓

Last Updated: January 21, 2020

Clark, Leonard S. (#260) Huffington, Julia (#2194) Nichols, Carolee (#2598)

First Baptist

White, Henrietta Walker (#2441-A [audio only]) Nins, Rev. Thomas (#2940)

First Congregational

Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366) ✓ Drieghe, Maria (#2872) Ficker, David (#2600; fire at) Ficker, Mary Dodge (#359) ✓ Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich) Kendall, Judith (#2495)

Saint Barnabas

Bassage, Rev. Harold (#879) Close, Elizabeth (#270) ✓ Ives, Philip (#413) ✓ Ludington, Constance (#955)

Saint Catherine of Siena

Eizayaga, Adriana (#2895; Moving to Greenwich from Argentina) Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich) Loomis, Elizabeth (#616 [audio only]) O'Connor, Father Vincent (#496) Rassu, Ralph (#2436)

Saint Mary's

deChantal, Sister Mary (#908; Harper) Emery, Marietta (#492 [audio only]) Korn, Veronica (#2652; Hispanic Center at) Martinez, Rev. German (#2660; Hispanic Center at) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493) Taborda, Amada (#2661; Hispanic Center at)

Temple Sholom and Hebrew Institute

Eskowetz, Jennie (#322) ✓ Kletz, Marie (#431) Perstein, Norma G. (#2841; temple excutive)

Page 79 of 98

Pomerance, Ralph (#374) Silverman, Rabbi Hillel (#2615)

<u>Other</u>

Barrows, Paul (#2114; Second Congregational Church) Bella, Andrew (#215; Lutheran churches in Byram) ✓ Bentley, Peter (#2393; Fellowship of Greenwich Clergy) Blessington, John (#2130; religion at Whitby School) Buckland, John A. (#2579; Tomac Historic Burying Ground) Cartun, Darby (#2026; General Theological Seminary) Close, Elizabeth (#270; older Round Hill churches) ✓ Drabeck, Olga Frano (#563; Saint Paul's Lutheran Church) Evaristo, Josephine (#581; Sacred Heart; Saint Roch's) Figueroa, Carolina (#2921; Moving to Greenwich from Colombia) Finch, William E., Jr. (#673, Banksville/Stanwich churches, published with Watson) 🗸 Hill, Richard K. (#2580; Tomac Historic Burying Ground) Howland, Gertrude (#2374; religion at Nathaniel Witherell Nursing Home) ✓ Huffington, Julia (#2194; Saint Paul's Episcopal Church, Riverside) Hunt, Jon (#2914; St. Paul's) Hunt, Joseph Palmer (#2704; Saint Paul's Episcopal Church, Riverside) Ives, Phillip (#413; architect of Saint Barnabas Church) Johnson, Pyke, Jr. (#2645; Society of Friends) Knapp, J. Edward (#2380; funeral practices) Luders, J. Edward (#940; Saint Michael's Church) Mazza, Anthony P. (#2239; Sacred Heart; published with Fisher, Everett,) ✓ McLaughlin, Sister Cora, and Sister Joan Magnetti (#2519; Sacred Heart School) Nins, Rev. Thomas (#2940) Perlstein, Norma G. (#2841; Greenwich Jewish Federation, Jewish Family Center) Real, Thomas (#2865; St. Roch's church) Salomon, Rabbi Deborah (#2941; Hebrew Wizards) Schilt, Vernon (#2052; Plymouth Brethren) Steadwell, Gertrude Johnson (#2451; role in civil rights movement) 🗸 Towe, Rev. Neely (#2659; Stanwich Congregational Church)

SCHOOLS, PRIVATE

Brunswick School

Everett, Alfred E. (#2035) Fogg, Regina (#2949) Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center) Lane, Roger (#436) Mecca, Nancy (#2923; My Families in Greenwich) Nins, Rev. Thomas (#2940) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate) Phillips, Florence (#2937, O'Neil Amphitheater, dramatic arts in schools)

Chinese Language School of Connecticut

Hsu, Wen (#2755)

Edgewood School

Hubert, Elizabeth (#764) Lane, Roger (#436) Rafferty, Brendan G. (#1030) Seton, Anya (#522)

Gateway School

Abell, Nan Scallon Taylor (#2459) Borchetta, Charles (#2487; omitted from published version)

Greenwich Academy

Barrows, Paul (#2114) Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center) Howard, Patsy J. (#2736) Lester, Lydia (#338) Owen, Gladys H. R. (#2445; #2745) Reynolds, Phoebe R. (#2033) Slater, Imogene W. (#2288) Wyman, Ralph M. and Lotte A. "Toni" (#2881)

Greenwich Country Day School

Cartun, Darby (#2026) Figueroa, Carolina (#2921; Moving to Greenwich from Colombia) Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center) Grant, Arthur (#2000) ✓ Hart-Rogers, Margaret (#2783; student and teacher; sports at) Lee, Leslie Simmons (#2910) Moffly, Donna (#2927; Grace Notes) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate) Rafferty, Brendan G. (#1030) Webster, John R. (#462)

Greenwich Japanese School

Albert, David (#2550) Paluszek, Suzanne, and Masahiro Oji (#2617)

Rosemary Hall

Albert, David (#2550) Baker, Dorothy (#252) Brownell, Elizabeth Hyde (#1017) ✓ Bruno, Rose (#2482; staff) Hart-Rogers, Margaret (#2783; student) Malkin, Peter (#2918; Conservation and Preservation) Stafford, Caroline G. (#2576) Taylor, Cherry Grafton (#2431) Thébaud, Sally (#2535; teacher at)

Saint Mary Schools

deChantal, Sister Mary (#908; Harper) Emery Marietta (#492 [audio only]) Fogg, Regina (#2949) Korn Vernonica (#2652; Hispanic Center at) Martinez, Rev. German (#2660; Hispanic Center at) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493) Taborda, Amada (#2661; Hispanic Center at) Tripodi, Rick (#2936; growing up above family store on Greenwich Avenue)

Temple Sholom and Hebrew Institute

Eskowetz, Jennie (#322) ✓ Kletz, Marie (#431) Pomerance, Ralph (#374) Silverman, Rabbi Hillel (#2615) ✓

Other

Cartun, Darby (#2026; Putnam Indian Field Preschool, Norwalk Community College)
Barragan, Marigle Alarcon-Vargas (#2906; Greenwich Catholic Elementary School; Convent of the Sacred Heart)
Barrows, Paul (#2114; Second Congregational Church)
Bella, Andrew (#215; Lutheran churches in Byram)
Bentley, Peter (#2393; Fellowship of Greenwich Clergy)
Blessington, John (#2130; Whitby School) Boles, Ambrose (#2350; Saint Basil's Prep, Stamford) Hoisington, Edith N. (#2261; Wabanaki) Howard, Patsy J. (#2736; REACH) Hsu, Wen (#2755; Chinese Language School of Greenwich) Jacob, Phyllis (#2318; Sunny Hill Children's Center, King Street) Mazurek, Andrzej (#2922; Montessori; A Polish–American's Immigrant Experience) Mazza, Anthony P. (#732; Sacred Heart) ✓ McLaughlin, Sister Cora, and Sister Joan Magnetti (#2519; Sacred Heart School) Parker, Challen R. (#807 [audio only]; various) Schilt, Vernon (#2052; Plymouth Brethren) Steadwell, Gertrude Johnson (#2451; role in civil rights movement) Towe, Rev. Neely (#2659; Stanwich Congregational Church)

SCHOOLS, PUBLIC

<u>General</u>

Barbour, Floyd (#200; business education) Bellos, Sybil P. (#220; health services) ✓ Bernard, Nancy S. (#2735; local archeology lessons) Bogardus, Lela (#2562; dance programs) Calkin, Janice (#2727; Continuing Education) Caron, Ann F. (#2768; psychologist; adolescent psychology and development) Coan, Stuart (#2885; World War II – Before and After) Curcio, Mary (#418; home instruction) ✓ Durrell, Ernestine (#2743; music education; Greenwich Symphony Young People's Concerts) Edgar, William J. (#2070; superintendent) Ficker, David (#2600; music in public schools) Fleishman, Ernest (#2898) Foster, Kay (#361; elementary education) Gray, George, and Raymond Malone (#2421; music education) 🗸 Hand, Roxy von Hagen (#2457; physical education, esp. at Mason Street; published with Leslie T. Hand) Kendall, Judith (#2495; school bus driver) Kotula, Corinta N. Ciano (#2785; Greenwich Symphony Young People's Concerts) Monroe, Ruth (#369; guidance) Price, S. Willard (#930; superintendent) Radcliffe, Mary J. (#2572; #2838; Greenwich Symphony Young People's Concerts Real, Thomas M. (#2865; crossing guide)

Relihan, Helen T. (#2304; school nursing) ✓ Sager, Margaret Huntley (#290; school guidance counseling) Sargeant, Hazel (#438; hot lunch program) Sherman, William H. (#2056) Shippee, Elizabeth L. (#2834; Children's Concerts; Greenwich Symphony Young People's Concerts) Whittelsey, Souther (#817; Havemeyer School) Taylor, [Abell] Nan Scallon (#2177) Wenning, Adele D. (#2631; counseling at Family Center)

Cos Cob School

Clark, Leonard (#260) Coan, Stuart (#2885; World War II – Before and After) Constante, Maria Emperatriz "Empy" (#2886) Fujitani, Robert (#2880) Higgins, Francis J. (#376; principal) ✓ Phillips, Florence (#2937, O'Neil Amphitheater, dramatic arts in schools) Relihan, Helen T. (#2304) ✓ Smith, Alan (#2795) Von Keyserling, Chris (#2689 [audio only]; fire and re-building) Wilson, Ruth (#2692; student and teacher)

Eastern Middle School

Eizayaga, Adriana (#2895; Moving to Greenwich from Argentina) Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center) Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich)

Greenwich High School

Baker, Sue Hout (#2845; oceanography teacher; diving coach) Barrett, Daniel V. (#2763; science and oceanography teacher) ✓ Bassett, Horace H., DDS (#2080; student) ✓ Bassi, Virginia R. K. (#2306; music teacher) Bella, Andrew (#216, principal) ✓ Betteridge, Albert E., III "Terry" (#2875) Bott (Haughwout), Penny (#814, music education) Bramante, Andrew (#2958, Greenwich High School Science Research teacher) Bushell, Esther (#2766; English teacher, later book club facilitator) Coan, Stuart (#2885; World War II – Before and After) Constante, Maria Emperatriz "Empy" (#2886) DiAngelo, Salvatore (#2883) Edgar, William J. (#2070) Eizayaga, Adriana (#2895; Moving to Greenwich from Argentina) Fujitani, Robert (#2880) Gibbons, Alex (#2919; Arch Street Teen Center) Higgins, Francis J. (#376; principal) ✓ Houston, Harrison (#574; building on Hillside Road) ✓ Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich) Knudsen, Peter (#2517; teacher) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; student) ✓ Malone, Raymond (#2610, choral music) Morgan, Ruth (#2300; drama; Summer Youth Festival) ✓ Obrig, Virginia (#2554; teacher) Radcliffe, Mary J. (#2838, new [2011–12] GHS auditorium) Russell, Joseph H. (#2686; #2698; distributive education) Steegmuller, Francis (#2211; student) ✓ Taylor [Abell], Nan Scallon (#2177; Hillside Road location) Wenning, Adele D. (#2631; counseling) Williams, Ardith (#2531; English-as-a-Second-Language program)

New Lebanon School

Reed, Margaret (#2791; New Lebanon School part-time librarian) Rupp, Frank J. (#2908; The Greenwich Waterfront)

North Mianus School

Bonvenuto, Michael (#2670; student) Curcio, Mary (#418) ✓ Leonard, Victor (#2214; principal) McGeorge, Margaret (#787; student)

Old Greenwich School

Avann, Douglas (#2599) Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366) ✓ Ficker, Mary (#359; Sound Beach School) ✓ Harbeck, Dorothy (#794) Hunt, Jon (#2914; Music in Greenwich) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; Old Greenwich) ✓ Lucas, Walter H., and Joseph Sanger (#472) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate)

Riverside School

Chetcuti, Mariel C. (#2891) Eizayaga, Adriana (#2895; Moving to Greenwich from Argentina) Hunt, Joseph Palmer (#2704)Hvolbeck, Charles J. (#2110 Mecca, Nancy (#2923; My Families in Greenwich) Ogilvy, David (#2933 Conservation, Preservation, Real Estate) Ornstein, Barbara H. (#2558, student) Reed, Margaret (#2791; part-time librarian) Simpkins, Robert (#497; principal) ✓

Western Middle School

Moye, Eugene J., Sr. (#2508; teacher) ✓ Strange, Donald (#2533; principal)

<u>Other</u>

Bambrick, William (#2903 The Astronomical Society of Greenwich; Julian Curtiss) Bella, Andrew (#215; Byram School and others) Betteridge, Albert E., III "Terry" (#2875; Parkway School) Curcio, Mary (#418; Mianus) * Davenport, Benjamin (#2516; Eastern Middle School principal) DiAngelo, Salvatore (#2883; Hamilton Avenue) Figueroa, Carolina (#2921; Hamilton Avenue; Moving to Greenwich from Colombia) French, Joyce (#2715; team teaching at Dundee) Happy, Doris (#2473; one-room school) Jouret, May (#421; Glenville) Marks, Judge Leah Ruth (#2765; Mason Street School) Monroe, Ruth (#369; Havemeyer School; guidance; special education) Pray, Malcolm Sheldon, Jr. (#2767; dyslexia, lack of understanding of) Salvatore, Richard M. (#2493; Mason Street School) Tripodi, Josephine (#2934; Family store; Havemeyer Elem., Mason Street "old high school")

Whittelsey, Souther (#817; Havemeyer School)

SCIENCE

See also ASSOCIATIONS & NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS: Archaeological Society of Greenwich; Audubon Society; Greenwich Land Trust; CONSERVATION, RIVERS, & NATURAL RESOURCES; FARMING & GARDENING; GREENWICH TOWN GOVERNMENT: Shellfish Commission

Bambrick, William (#2903 The Astronomical Society of Greenwich)

Barrett, Daniel V. (#2763; oceanography and ecology)

Bramante, Andrew (#2958, Greenwich High School Science Research teacher)

The Bruce Museum – 100 *Years of Change* (seven narrators) ✓

Conservation in Greenwich (five narrators) ✓

Davenport, Lee L. (#2798; development of radar and first use in war)

Gersten, Leonard (#2466; Mianus River Bridge design; engineering; published in book below) ✓

Howes, Paul G. (#2197; re Dr. Edward F. Bigelow)

Mahoney, Mary Reilly (#2186; re Dr. Edward F. Bigelow)

Mianus River Bridge Collapse, June 28, 1983 (twenty-two narrators; engineering; eds., Mary Ellen LeBien and Charlotte Davidson Albrecht) ✓

Mortimer, Harry S. (#680; re Dr. Edward F. Bigelow and Louis Agassiz)

SOCIAL AGENCIES & PROBLEMS

See also BANKS & FINANCE: Depression; ELDERLY; GOVERNMENT & POLITICS: GEMS; HEALTH & MEDICINE: American Red Cross

<u>General</u>

Andrews, Astrid (#2025; hospital social services) Asch, Florence (#2571; Pegasus Therapeutic Riding Program) Bates, Patricia (#2314; Hotline) Bellos, Sybil (#220; public health nursing) ✓ Bentley, Peter (#2393; Fellowship of Greenwich Clergy; anti-Semitism) Bobker, Kate (#2779; Jewish Community Center, Port Chester, NY) Brown, Nancy (#2507; Community Development Action Plan) Caldwell, Viola (#2450; Meals-On-Wheels) Clark, Walter (#2589; Great Depression) Eizayaga, Adriana (#2895; Moving to Greenwich from Argentina) Farrell, Jeanne (#2476; Social Services Department) Femia, Carol (#2527; Social Services Department) Fountain, Leatrice (#970; Vietnam draft resistance) Hayton, Maggie (#396; Social Services Department) ✓ Hirsch, James (Jimmy) Norton, Jr. (#2832; crime) Jacques, Emile & Mary (#2136; Vietnam draft resistance) Jahncke, Cornelia (#2649; birth control; Planned Parenthood) Johnson, Pyke, Jr. (#2645; counseling conscientious objectors) Mix, Jeannette Mills (#483, birth control, United Workers) Monroe, Ruth (#369; school guidance; special education) Nives, Donna, and Allyson Halm (#2816; cruelty to animals)

Nolan, Barbara (#2915; Community Centers, Inc.) Owens, Lynn E. (#2666; Gaining Your Voice through the Arts) Parker, Eleanor (#1050; various) Reddin, Elaine (#2627; Call-A-Ride) Rockefeller, Nancy C. (#291; birth control) ✓ Rutherford, William A. (#843; Great Depression) Sager, Margaret Huntley (#290; guidance counseling) Schaffner, Pamela (#2803; Transportation Association of Greenwich [TAG]) Sheridan, Catherine Elizabeth (#2810; Neighbor to Neighbor) West, Chester W. (#2381, #2387; full-moon effect) ✓

Community Chest/United Way

Alvord, Helen M. (#960; Director) ✓ Adelberg, Stuart D. (#2702; Director) Bates, Patricia (#2314) Bushby, Laura (#1045) Donahue, Judith (#2921) Hoyt, Barbara (#747) Jenkins, Laura (#2312, fund-raising) ✓ Nado, Harry (#698, #2085; origins) Napper, Alver W., Sr. (#636) ✓ White, Gertrude (#729)

Family Centers, Inc. (formerly Greenwich Family Center, Inc.)

Arnold, Robert (#2820; Family Centers, Inc., and history of social services in town) Gregory, Jean (#621) Loomis, Elizabeth (#616 [audio only]) Lyons, Catherine (#894) Wenning, Adele D. (#2631)

Hispanic Club of Greenwich

Korn, Veronica (#2652) Martinez, Rev. German (#2660) Taborda, Amada (#2661)

Housing

See also WARS: World War II Veterans' Housing

The American Felt Company (company housing; anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) Ashwell, Thomas B. (#2547; World War II veterans') Brown, Nancy (#2507; CDAP role) Ekberg, Margaret L. (#2281; elderly) Finney, Florence (#997; World War II veterans) Gross, Arthur (#2364; need for; published with Porricelli, Jerry, Sr.) Harris, Griffith E. (#2006; elderly) Havemeyer Park, An Oral History (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) Hoberman, Norman (#2120; elderly) Holbeck, Robert (#1085; public) Porricelli, Gennaro (Jerry Sr.) (#2371; need for housing; published with Gross) Riakowski, Alfred & Sophie (#2403; employee) Rockefeller, Nancy C. (#291; elderly) Schachter, Ralph (#2404; employee) Sczesny, Andrew F. (#2412; employee) Stevens, Lydia (#2328; Greenwich Housing Coalition; #2658; changing need for) Tabell, Margaret (#2456; World War II veterans')

Housing Authority

Hubert, Richard (#762) Peterson, Alfred (#538) Pomerance, Ralph (#373) Robinson, Winston (#2647) Updike, Mary (#869)

Race Relations and Prejudice

Bentley, Peter (#2393; anti-Semitism re real estate) Blackson, Andrew & Louise (#950; race relations) Deutsch, Richard E. (#2163; anti-Semitism) ✓ Everett, Alfred E. (#2035; McCarthyism) Harris, Griffith E. (#2006; anti-Catholicism) ✓ Krois, Max (#633; anti-German during WWI) Mahoney, Mary Reilly (#2186; anti-Semitism) Marks, Judge Leah Ruth (#2765; anti-Semitism) Moye, Eugene J., Sr. (#2508; in U. S. Army, police department) ✓ Napper, Alver W., Sr. (#636, #637, #638) ✓ ✓ Resnick, Dr. David (#2684; anti-Semitism) Steadwell, Gertrude Johnson (#2451; civil rights) ✓ Twine, George E. (#1065; civil rights) ✓ Wylie, Robert (#2956; civil rights)

SPORTS & RECREATION

Asch, Florence (#2571; Pegasus Therapeutic Riding Program) Bartol, Norma (#2708; riding; Greenwich Riding and Trails Association) Borchetta, Charles (#2487; Bruce Park par course; omitted from published version) Campbell, Williams (#2815; Greenwich Croquet Club) Carlson, Peter (#2499; commuter card-playing) Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366; various) ✓ Conway, Howard (#793; baseball) Cook, Molly Cummings Minot (#2853; riding) Crichton, William (#2265; golf) Crosby, Clifton (#864; Recreation Department) Cummings, Lester (#448; tennis) Davies, Betty (#2721; horse riding) Dowling, Joseph (#2575; wheelchair racing) Duncan, Alexander (#305; Scottish games) Freedman, Jennifer (#2831; riding; Greenwich Riding and Trails Association) Gaudio, Joseph A. (#2673; circus) Gotch, John (#2369; track, baseball) Gravis, Helen Meany (#2263, #2299; Olympic diver) ✓ Hack, Renée (#2833; hobby, making miniature rooms) Hand, Roxy von Hagen (#2457; in schools; published with Hand, Leslie T.) ✓ Hart-Rogers, Margaret (#2783; Scottish games; at Country Day School) Henninger, Charles C. (#2480; Greenwich Civic Center) ✓ Hirshhorn, Olga Zatorsky (#980; swimming) ✓ Hoggson, Wallace (#2180; tennis, et al.) Hone, Lynne Williams (#2942) Howland, John (#685; fox hunting) Imbrogno, Louis (#2624, #2639; racing pigeons) Jenkins, Rhoda (#2307; circus) Jensen, Charles W. (#411; swimming) Kelsey, Elise Boyce "Sis" (#2707; family stable, riding) Lally, Thomas C. (#267; automobile racing) Lee, Leslie Simmons (#2910; riding) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; football) ✓ Moore, Elizabeth Hyde (#282; Scottish games) Munro, Louise (#2651; champion golfer) Murphy, John R. (#2512; Fourth Ward Athletic Club) Novak, Frances (#2748; Greenwich Lawn Bowling Club) Peabody, David F. (#2521; running) Pirro, Charles (#987; golf) Schofield, Elliott (#2342; swimming)

Sechi, Nino (#2863; Old Timers Athletic Association) Smith, James W. (#2619; penny arcade machine collection) Serrell, Margarita (#2722; horse riding) Sobek, Joseph (#2484; inventor of racquetball) Spaeth, Robert I. (#2687; Senior Babe Ruth League) Wahl, Theodore F. (#586; riding; fox hunting; cock fights) Webb, Alfonso & Charlotte (#777) Yardis, Mickey (#2626; bicycle, swimming, and foot races)

TRANSPORTATION

See also HEALTH & MEDICINE: GEMS: WEATHER & OTHER DISASTERS: Mianus River Bridge Collapse

Augustin, John (#2518; Westchester Airport) Blum, Priscilla, and Jay Weinberg (#2464; Corporate Angel Network) Bucher, Carleton (#2138; Westchester Airport) Carlson, Peter (#2499; commuters) Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366; trolley, bus, railroad) ✓ Chapman, Josephine L. (#246; trolleys) Conboy, Josephine B. (#2851; founder, Greenwich Presrvation Trust; multiple other volunteer activities) Cook, Molly Cummings Minot (#2853, early aviation) Curry, R. Eugene (#2207, proposed early railroads) Didriksen, Caleb (#812 [audio only]; I-95 construction) Erdmann, William (#366; Island Beach ferry) ✓ Ferraro, Tom, Jr. and Linda Muccio (#2809; Tom's Driving School) Ford, F. Richards, and George Schiele (#2431; Transit District; proposed mini-bus system) ✓ Hipkins, Clifton A. (#697; I-95 construction; published with Drake and Harcourt) ✓ Hunt, Joseph Palmer (#2704; sighting of *Hindenburg*) Jacob, Leonard (#2202; proposed early railroads) Kendall, Judith (#2495; school bus driver) Lally, Thomas C. (#267; store delivery wagon, taxi company, early automobile racing, WWI Motor Corps) Latella, Domenick (#2145; fruit and vegetable peddler) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; railroads) ✓ McGeorge, William B. (#1013; re coachman; McGeorge Livery and Boarding Stables) ✓ McWilliams, Florence (#601 [audio only]; trolleys, train)

The Mianus River Bridge Collapse, June 28, 1983 (anthology, eds., Mary Ellen LeBien and Charlotte Davidson Albrecht) ✓
Nichols, Carolee (#2598; I-95 construction)
Palmer, C. Fred (#714; ships, cars)
Pearson, Robert G. (#2475; railroad club car)
Reddin, Elaine (#2627; Call-A-Ride)
Riska, Gertrude (#2407, railroad power plant) ✓
Schaffner, Pamela (#2803; founder, Transportation Association of Greenwich [TAG])
Schiele, George. See F. Richards Ford ✓
Washburn, Loring, (#1011, partially transcribed, Westchester Airport)
White, F. Warren (#2309; early automobiles) ✓

UNITED NATIONS SITE CONTROVERSY

Cole, Amedée & Marie (#265) ✓ Emery, Marietta (#492 [audio only]) Evaristo, Josephine (#581) ✓ Gray, John L. (#829) ✓ Ketchum, Alton (#689) ✓ Lewis, Alfred Baker (#238 [audio only]) Yudain, Bernard L. (#442) ✓

VOLUNTEERISM

See also ARTS; ASSOCIATIONS & NONPROFIT ORGANIZATIONS; ELDERLY; GOVERNMENT & POLITICS: Community Activists; Greenwich Town Government; Health & Medicine; HISTORY; LIBRARIES & MUSEUMS; PARKS; RELIGION; SOCIAL AGENCIES & PROBLEMS; SPORTS & RECREATION

Abell, Nan Scallon Taylor (#2177, Board of Education; #2459, the Gateway School) Baker, Sue Hout (#2845; Greenwich Point Conservancy, Calf's Island Conservancy, and many others)

- Bloch, Barbara B. (#854, founder, Oral History Project; #2525, Democratic Women's Club; #2916 Oral History Project))
- Blum, Priscilla, & Jay Weinberg (#2464; co-founders, Corporate Angel Network)

Bogardus, Mary Lela (#2562; Arts Council, dance programs in schools; Pappas Pavilion)

Burnett, Jara (#2759; Riverside Association; League of Women Voters; Board of Estimate and Taxation)

Caldwell, Joan (#2417; #2900 led fight against Xerox Corporation land purchase)

Chou, Marylin (#2839; founder, At Home in Greenwich) Davies, Betty (#2917; Early Years at Christ Church)
Day, Lucy, & Cecile P. McCaull (#2725; founders, with Mary Waterman, Breast Cancer Alliance)
Duff, Jane (#1080; founder, Garden Education Center [formerly Greenwich Garden Center]
Dunson, Cheryl V. (#2711; League of women Voters; water protection; state politics) Drieghe, Maria (#2872; The Rummage Room)
Figueroa, Carolina (#2921; Family Center, Greenwich Hospital "Healing Touch"; Moving to Greenwich from Colombia)
Francefort, Douglas (#2505; The Book Shed at the Recycling Center) French, Anne, & R. Eugene Curry (#2410; about founding of Mianus River Preserve, first property of The Nature Conservancy)
Guillet, Lucy (#2913; Anti-Nuclear and Peace Movement)
 Hand, Betsy Jordan (#2700; League of Women Voters; Arts Council) Hauptman, Betty (#2812; League of Women Voters; Board of Health; Commission on Aging, League of Women Voters, Greenwich Library; At Home in Greenwich) Howland, Gertrude (#2374; effort to improve patient conditions at Witherell; with Nan
Rockefeller founded the Auxiliary).
Johnson, Lucy Black (#2691; fifty years of volunteering: Board of Education; politics) Jones, Olwen M. "Ollie" (#467, League of Women Voters; #468 and #2916, Oral History Project; #2572; Greenwich Symphony Orchestra in Kotula & Radcliffe)
Keig, Judy (#2916; Oral History Project) Malkin, Peter (#2918; Conservation and Preservation)
McArdle, James B., III (#2873; tree donations and plantings)
Myers, Stephen Andrew (#2879; nuclear disarmament)
Ogden, Ross H. (#2705; fifty-plus years at American Red Cross local, state, national leadership volunteer)
Ornstein, Barbara (#2916, Oral History Project)
Parker, Frank III (#2929, Christ Church)
Perlstein, Norma G. (#2841; American Red Cross, Greenwich Jewish Federation; Jewish Family Services, Pathways, YWCA)
Phillips, Marian (#2916; Greenwich Library Oral History Program)
Pomerance, Ralph (#373, Housing Authority; #374, Temple Sholom; #2913, Anti-Nuclear and Peace Movements)
Radcliffe, Mary J. (#2572; #2828, president of Greenwich Symphony Orchestra since 1981)
Reddin, Elaine (#2627; founder, Call-A-Ride) Ritman, James (#2931; 9/11 Memorial in Cos Cob Park)

Rockefeller, Nancy Carnegie (#291; Greenwich Shelter [children]; birth control clinics; Mother's Milk Station; Marriage Counsel Bureau; Parsonage Cottage [formerly Town Farm]; American Red Cross Motor Corps and Gray Lady; Merry-Go-Round [formerly senior recreation and hot lunch]; Nathaniel Witherell Auxiliary [cofounder]; Greenwich Mews)

Rutgers, Alma (#2713; various town boards; politics) Schaffner, Pamela (#2803; founder, Transportation Authority of Greenwich [TAG])

Sechi, Patricia Degelmann (#2893)

Wyman, Ralph M. and Lotte A. "Toni" (#2881; Kids in Crisis; YWCA)

WARS, CIVIL DEFENSE, HOME FRONT & PEACE MOVEMENT

World War I

Bassett, Horace H., DDS (#2080; Home Front; armistice) ✓ Bennett, George (#717; Army) ✓ Bolling, Raynal C., Jr. (#2438; father in Air Corps) ✓ Clark, Leonard S. (#260, Home Front; hazardous materials driver) Curcio, Mary (#418; Home Front) ✓ Faulkner, Joan Fisher (#2297; Home Front) Fidao, Llovd (#2472, armistice celebration) George, Marjorie Jones (#2250; Red Cross Motor Corps) Hubbard, Henry (#772; Army) Huffington, Julia (#2194; Home Guard) Krois, Max (#633; anti-German sentiment) Lally, Thomas C. (#267; Motor Corps) Levine, Jennie Marks (#451; armistice) Louden, Joseph S. (#2378; Home Guard) ✓ Margenot, Mary Manero (#2320; Italian immigrants) Milonas, Mary (#2359; Greek emigration) Mix, Jeannette Mills (#483; Army; E. C. Converse letter) ✓ Spann, Alexandra Clarke (#526, #528; Home Front) ✓ Washburn, Loring (#1010; Naval Reserve) Webb, Alfonso & Charlotte (#777; farm work at Convers Farm)

<u>World War II</u>

Albrecht, Werner George (#2716, Guam) Andrews, Astrid (#2025; at Greenwich Hospital) Ayres, Payson (#722; Army, Pacific) Bachman, Edmund (#2746; submarine service) Bobker, Kate (#2779; Times Square victory celebration; husband's and brother's service) Boles, Ambrose (#2350; Army, Europe) Bolling, Raynal C., Jr. (#2438; Palmer Engine Company war work) ✓ Borchetta, Charles (#2487; marine patrol) ✓ Brander, Jean K. (#2671; Home Front) Bridge, Samuel F., Jr. (#2546; Army, England, Pacific) Bucher, Carleton (#2138; at Westchester Airport) Catanzaro, Daniel (#2366; Western Union messenger) ✓ Cunningham, Evan (#2500; Coast Guard; Navy) Curcio, Louise (#433; at Greenwich Hospital) Davenport, Lee L. (#2798; development of radar and first use) Davenport, Marianna (#319 [audio only]; heating oil shortage) DiAngelo, Salvatore (#2883) Didriksen, Caleb (#812 [audio only]; civil defense) Doran, Betsy (#2790; Old Greenwich Home Front) Erdmann, William (#366; Army, Pacific) ✓ Finney, Daphne (#2787; airplane spotting; Cos Cob Home Front) Finney, James A., Jr. (#2786; airplane spotting; Cos Cob Home Front) Francefort, Douglas (#2905) Fujitani, Robert (#2880) Gisborne, F. Reginald (#742; ration board) ✓ Gleason, John M. (#382, auxiliary police) ✓ Gotch, John (#2369; Navy) Hartig, Albert M. (#2876) Heath, Gloria W. (#2870; Aviation) Hewitt, Henrietta (#401; civil defense) Hull, Lloyd (#2932; USS LAFFEY, Okinawa, kamikaze) Jones, Charles M. (#2867) Knudsen, Peter (#2517; draft board) Lally, Thomas C. (#267) Lally, Walter James (#2840; Air Force) Larkin, John I., MD (#2726, Home Front, Albany, NY)) Lee, Robert A. (#456) MacKay, James (#2794; military service, Dachau) Macri, Antoinette Peters (#2782; Byram Home Front) Milonas, Mary (#2359; WACs) Minchin, Henry (#1000; war manufacturing) ✓ Moye, Eugene J., Sr. (#2508; segregated Army; Pacific) ✓ Murphy, John R. (#2512) Novak, Frank (#2796; Home Front and military service)

Oppenheimer, Robert (#2846) Ornstein, Barbara H. (#2545, farm work at Convers Farm) Palmer, Paul P. (#918, Navy) ✓ Palmer, Paul P. (# 2758, Navy) Pietrzak, Jean (#2789; Byram Home Front) Russell, Joseph H. (#2698) Smith, Esther H. (#963, Red Cross staff worker) Spann, Alexandra Clarke (#526, #528; civil defense) ✓ Standard, Charles (Chuck) E. (#2874), navy pilot Standard, Charles "Chuck" (#2912) Stuttig, Charles F., Jr. (#2501; Air Force) Tabell, Margaret (#2456; civil defense; air raid warden) Twine, George E. (#1065; segregation in Army) ✓ Watt, Margaret (#2847; at Brae Burn Farm) Webb, Alfonso & Charlotte (#777; civil defense) Weed, Candee Ives (#2780; grandfather's farm during) Weir, Michael B. (#2830, military service, Korea) Woodd-Cahusac, Rev. Sydney (#2630; Marine Corps) Wylie, Robert (#2956)

World War II Veterans' Housing

Ashwell, Thomas B. (#2547; Havemeyer Park) Bloch, Barbara Bemis (#854; District 12) Callachan, Joseph (#836; Tod mansion) Ficker, Thiel (#358; Tod mansion) Finney, Florence (#997; Mianus and Sheephill Villages) Hankins, Martha (#2823; childhood at Tod's Point veterans' housing) *Havemeyer Park, An Oral History* (anthology, ed., Carol Ashwell) Lockwood, Marion (#403; Tod mansion) Tabell, Margaret (#2456; Mianus and Sheephill Villages) *Tod's Point* (anthology, ed., Barbara H. Ornstein)

Home Front

Finney, James A., Jr. (#2786) Finney, Daphne (#2787; during WWII) Macri, Antoinette Peters (#2782) Weed, Candee I. (#2780)

Peace Movement

Guillet, Lucy (#2913)

Hoffman, Louise S. (#2877) Milliken, Jane E. (#2884) Myers, Stephen Andrew (#2879)

<u>Other</u>

Finch, William E., Jr. (#346; Battle of Strickland Plain) Fountain, Leatrice (#970; Vietnam draft resistance) Jacques, Emile & Mary (#2136; draft board; Vietnam draft counseling) Johnson, Pyke, Jr. (#2645; conscientious objector counselor) Kantorski, Joseph (#2753; Vietnam medic; conscientious objector) Larkin, John I., MD (#2778, Army doctor) McDermott, Patrick M. (#2871; Vietnam War) Rockefeller, Godfrey (#606; 1911–17 Mexican border disputes) Spann, Alexandra (#528; 1950s aircraft spotting) Weir, Michael B. (#2830; Korea)

WEATHER & OTHER DISASTERS

See also **FIRE DEPARTMENTS; HEALTH & MEDICINE: American Red Cross, GEMS**

Fires

Bruno, Rose (#2482; fire at woolen mill) Dodge, Linsley "Bud" (#2606; fire at Greenwich Country Club) Lucas, Walter H., and Joseph Sanger (#472; fire at woolen mill and others) Perlstein, Norma G. (#2841; Ringling Brothers Circus fire, Hartford, CT, July 6, 1944) Porricelli, Jerry, Sr. (#2371; fire at Cos Cob Food Mart) ✓ Von Keyserling, Christopher (#2689 [audio only]; Cos Cob School fire) West, Chester W. (#2381, #2387; Gulliver's fire and others) ✓ Yerks, James L., Jr. (#2696; fire at woolen mill and others)

Mianus River Bridge Collapse

Mianus River Bridge Collapse, June 28, 1983, eds., Mary Ellen LeBien and Charlotte Davidson Albrecht ✓ (Anthology of the interviews below; *in toto* or excerpted; see note re five of them)
Albrecht, Werner George (#2325)
Anderson, William C.*
Baggott, Craig W. (#2471)
Breed, Rebecca S. (#2432)
Burns, J. William (#2440)
Brown, Thomas (#2402) Caravella, Louis (#2424) Cardozo, Margaret (#2414) DeNardo, Vito (#2463) Donald, David M. (#2461) Ebrech, William* Gersten, Leonard (#2466) Guinan, Mary Ellen (#2437) Kelly, Shannon* O'Connor, Michael (#2469) Oldham, Mary (#2418) O'Neill, Gov. William A. (#2423) Pace, David Allen* Pace, Helen Margaret* Rush, William B. (#2460) West, Chester W. (#2381; #2387) Zeranski, Joseph (#2481)

> *These five interviews were conducted by the National Transportation Safety Board. Permission was granted to use them to the Oral History Project for its anthology.

<u>Weather</u>

Bassett, Horace H., DDS (#2080; Long Island Sound freezing) ✓ Belding, John (#2385; 1938 hurricane) Benoit, Joseph (#2552; ice storm, 1973–74) Besier, Elizabeth (#408; [audio only], 1955 floods) Borchetta, Charles (#2487; marine rescue) ✓ Caravella, Louis (#2424; ice storm, 1973-74) Cunningham, Evan (#2500; Byram River flooding) Erdmann, William (#366; 1938 hurricane, 1955 storm, winter ice) 🗸 Evaristo, Josephine (#581; weather changes) ✓ Fidao, Lloyd (#2472; 1938 hurricane) Haughwout, J. A. B. (#361, Byram River flooding) Knapp, Katharine (#2429; 1955 Byram River flood) Latella, Domenick (#2145; 1908 earthquake in Italy) Lounsbury, Harry M. (#641; 1938 hurricane) Mahoney, Carol A. (#2887) Ormerod-Glynn, Barbara (#2850; March, 2010, nor'easter; Hurricane Irene, August, 2011; snowstorm, October, 2011) Palmer, Paul P. (#918; 1938 hurricane) ✓ Rassu, Ralph (#2436; winter weather) Riska, Gertrude (#2407, 1938 hurricane) ✓

Sampson, Meredith (#2945; wildlife in climate change) Siclari, Vincetta (#514; 1938 hurricane; 1955 floods) Sorrento, John (#2346; 1938, 1955 Byram River floods) ✓ Taylor, Cherry Grafton (#2431; 1934 blizzard) West, Chester W. (#2381; Hurricane Gloria, 1985) ✓ White, Carl J. (#2483; Greenwich Library's response to March, 2010, storm)

<u>Other</u>

Bambrick, William (#2903 The Astronomical Society of Greenwich) Ritman, James (#2931; 9/11 Memorial in Cos Cob Park) West, Chester W. (#2381; #2387; full-moon effect) ✓